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ANA HOLDINGS INC.  Financial Results 2023

Consolidated Balance Sheet
ANA HOLDINGS INC. and its consolidated subsidiaries 
As of March 31, 2023

Yen (Millions)

U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)  

(Note 2)
As of March 31 2023 2022 2023

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities:

	 Short-term loans (Notes 9 and 18) ¥     92,170 ¥   100,070 $     690,256 

	 Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 9 and 18) 117,680 136,832 881,300 

	 Accounts payable (Note 18) 167,303 126,273 1,252,924 

	 Accounts payable to unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates 1,225 3,322 9,173 

	 Contract liabilities 393,545 256,023 2,947,240 

	 Accrued expenses 53,198 25,174 398,397 

	 Income taxes payable 6,910 2,908 51,748 

	 Other current liabilities (Note 12) 51,370 37,287 384,707 

		  Total current liabilities 883,401 687,889 6,615,749 

Long-term liabilities:

	 Long-term debt (Notes 9 and 18) 1,398,068 1,513,206 10,470,066 

	 Liability for retirement benefits (Note 10) 161,129 157,395 1,206,687 

	 Deferred tax liabilities (Note 13) 206 1,498 1,542 

	 Asset retirement obligations (Note 12) 1,537 1,550 11,510 

	 Other long-term liabilities 51,992 53,480 389,365 

		  Total long-term liabilities 1,612,932 1,727,129 12,079,173

Contingent liabilities (Note 17)

Equity (Note 16):

		  Common stock:

			   Authorized	 – 1,020,000,000 shares;

			   Issued	 – 484,293,561 shares in 2023 and 484,293,561 shares in 2022 467,601 467,601 3,501,842 

		  Capital surplus 407,328 407,328 3,050,460 

		  Retained earnings (Accumulated deficit) (21,126) (113,228) (158,211)

		  Treasury stock – 13,961,988 shares in 2023 and 13,956,694 shares in 2022 (59,365) (59,350) (444,581)

	 Accumulated other comprehensive income:

		  Unrealized gain on securities 36,824 32,311 275,773 

		  Deferred gain (loss) on derivatives under hedge accounting 42,496 72,167 318,250 

		  Foreign currency translation adjustments 2,481 3,688 18,580 

		  Defined retirement benefit plans (13,820) (13,268) (103,497)

			   Total 862,419 797,249 6,458,616 

	 Non-controlling interests 7,972 6,166 59,701 

		  Total equity 870,391 803,415 6,518,317 

		  TOTAL ¥3,366,724 ¥3,218,433 $25,213,240

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Yen (Millions)

U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)  

(Note 2)
As of March 31 2023 2022 2023

ASSETS

Current assets:

	 Cash and deposits (Notes 18 and 24) ¥   603,686 ¥   452,679 $  4,520,976 

	 Marketable securities (Notes 6 and 18) 580,037 498,310 4,343,870 

	 Notes and accounts receivable (Note 18) 186,052 149,437 1,393,334 

	 Accounts receivable from and advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates 2,741 3,787 20,527 

	 Lease receivables and investments in leases (Note 9) 14,724 17,628 110,267 

	 Inventories (Notes 7, 9 and 26) 44,655 44,074 334,419 

	 Prepaid expenses and other 119,183 128,251 892,555 

	 Allowance for doubtful accounts (258) (245) (1,932)

		  Total current assets 1,550,820 1,293,921 11,614,019

Property and equipment:

	 Land (Note 9) 44,045 44,385 329,850 

	 Buildings and structures (Note 9) 257,665 260,000 1,929,641 

	 Aircraft (Note 9) 1,781,646 1,783,736 13,342,664 

	 Machinery and equipment 99,411 99,234 744,484 

	 Vehicles 33,137 33,353 248,161 

	 Furniture and fixtures 60,748 60,933 454,938 

	 Lease assets (Note 15) 9,849 10,612 73,758 

	 Construction in progress 186,967 176,446 1,400,187 

		  Total 2,473,468 2,468,699 18,523,687 

	 Accumulated depreciation (1,202,156) (1,118,362) (9,002,890)

		  Net property and equipment 1,271,312 1,350,337 9,520,796

Investments and other assets:

	 Investment securities (Notes 6 and 18) 122,820 113,968 919,793

	 Investments in and advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates (Note 8) 31,667 31,632 237,152

	 Lease and guaranty deposits 16,362 15,003 122,534

	 Deferred tax assets (Note 13) 263,303 273,452 1,971,864

	 Goodwill 18,115 20,230 135,662

	 Intangible assets 69,705 73,050 522,017

	 Other assets 22,620 46,840 169,400

		  Total investments and other assets 544,592 574,175 4,078,424 

	 TOTAL (Note 21) ¥3,366,724 ¥3,218,433 $25,213,240

Consolidated Financial Statements
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ANA HOLDINGS INC.  Financial Results 2023

Consolidated Statement of Income
ANA HOLDINGS INC. and its consolidated subsidiaries 
Year Ended March 31, 2023

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
ANA HOLDINGS INC. and its consolidated subsidiaries 
Year Ended March 31, 2023

Yen (Millions)

U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)  

(Note 2)
Year Ended March 31 2023 2022 2023

Operating revenues (Note 21) ¥1,707,484 ¥1,020,324 $12,787,268 
Cost of sales (Notes 10 and 26) 1,403,567 1,049,414 10,511,248 
Gross income (loss) 303,917 (29,090) 2,276,020 
Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 10 and 22) 183,887 144,037 1,377,121 
Operating income (loss) (Note 21) 120,030 (173,127) 898,899 
Other income (expenses):
	 Interest income 838 297 6,275 
	 Dividend income 1,092 988 8,177 
	 Equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates 801 – 5,998 
	 Foreign exchange gain, net 2,306 2,540 17,269 
	 Gain on sales of assets 7,854 4,256 58,818 
	 Gain on donation of non-current assets 1,060 653 7,938 
	 Interest expenses (24,845) (25,343) (186,063)
	 Equity in losses of unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates – (2,031) –
	 Loss on sales of assets (85) (677) (636)
	 Loss on disposal of assets (3,233) (7,974) (24,211)
	 Grounded aircraft expense (4,638) (12,697) (34,733)
	 Gain on reversal of foreign currency translation adjustments 1,987 – 14,880 
	 Impairment loss (Note 25) – (9,357) –
	 Loss on cancellation of contracts – (4,055) –
	 Other, net (Note 26) 11,175 51,153 83,689

		  Other income (expenses), net (5,688) (2,247) (42,597)
Income (loss) before income taxes 114,342 (175,374) 856,301 

Income taxes (Note 13):
	 Current 4,578 2,682 34,284 
	 Deferred 19,666 (35,817) 147,277 

		  Total income taxes 24,244 (33,135) 181,562 
Net income (loss) 90,098 (142,239) 674,739 
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 621 1,389 4,650 

Net income (loss) attributable to owners of the parent ¥     89,477 ¥  (143,628) $     670,089

Yen
U.S. dollars 

(Note 2)
Year Ended March 31 2023 2022 2023

Per share of common stock (Notes 3, 16 and 23):
Basic net income (loss) ¥190.24 ¥(305.37) $1.42 
After adjusting for diluted shares net income per share 170.16 – 1.27
Cash dividends applicable to the year – – –

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Yen (Millions)

U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)  

(Note 2)
Year Ended March 31 2023 2022 2023

Net income (loss) ¥ 90,098 ¥(142,239) $ 674,739 
Other comprehensive income (loss) (Note 14):
	 Unrealized gain on securities 4,466 (6,104) 33,445 
	 Deferred (loss) gain on derivatives under hedge accounting (29,641) 50,438 (221,980)
	 Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,139) 1,142 (8,529)
	 Defined retirement benefit plans (554) 2,954 (4,148)
	 Share of other comprehensive income in affiliates 6 45 44 

		  Total other comprehensive (loss) income (Note 14) (26,862) 48,475 (201,168)

Comprehensive income (loss) ¥ 63,236 ¥  (93,764) $ 473,571 

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
	 Owners of the parent ¥ 62,560 ¥  (95,267) $ 468,508 
	 Non-controlling interests 676 1,503 5,062

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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ANA HOLDINGS INC.  Financial Results 2023

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ANA HOLDINGS INC. and its consolidated subsidiaries 
Year Ended March 31, 2023

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
ANA HOLDINGS INC. and its consolidated subsidiaries 
Year Ended March 31, 2023

Yen (Millions)

U.S. dollars 
(Thousands) 

(Note 2)
Year Ended March 31 2023 2022 2023

Cash flows from operating activities:

	 Income (loss) before income taxes ¥ 114,342 ¥(175,374) $    856,301 

		  Adjustments for:

			   Depreciation and amortization (Note 21) 148,270 157,505 1,110,387 

			   Impairment loss (Note 25) – 9,357 –

			   Amortization of goodwill (Note 21) 2,115 2,116 15,839 

			   Gain on disposal and sales of property and equipment (6,123) (15,637) (45,854)

			   Loss on cancellation of contracts – 4,055 –

			   Loss (gain) on sales and valuation of investment securities 841 (2,941) 6,298 

			   Reversal of foreign currency translation of investment securities (1,987) – (14,880)

			   Increase in allowance for doubtful accounts 506 770 3,789 

			   Increase in liability for retirement benefits 2,906 664 21,762 

			   Interest and dividend income (1,930) (1,285) (14,453)

			   Interest expenses 24,845 25,343 186,063 

			   Subsidies for employment adjustment (5,043) (23,955) (37,766)

			   Foreign exchange gain (2,348) (3,404) (17,584)

			   Increase in notes and accounts receivable (36,523) (44,964) (273,519)

			   Decrease in other current assets 5,758 20,687 43,121 

			   Increase in notes and accounts payable 35,612 2,473 266,696 

			   Increase in contract liabilities 137,522 15,445 1,029,895 

			   Other, net 50,230 (43,432) 376,170 

	 Subtotal 468,993 (72,577) 3,512,266 

	 Interest and dividends received 2,202 1,682 16,490 

	 Interest paid (24,990) (26,081) (187,148)

	 Proceeds from subsidy income 7,300 26,046 54,669 

	 Income taxes paid (3,683) (5,483) (27,581)

			   Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 449,822 (76,413) 3,368,696

Cash flows from investing activities:

	 Increase in time deposits (861,080) (655,500) (6,448,588)

	 Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits 735,354 635,713 5,507,032 

	 Purchases of marketable securities (154,321) (253,889) (1,155,702)

	 Proceeds from redemption of marketable securities 152,739 539,230 1,143,855 

	 Purchases of property and equipment (93,450) (120,591) (699,842)

	 Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 42,717 87,055 319,905 

	 Purchases of intangible assets (23,442) (12,773) (175,556)

	 Purchases of investment securities (674) (2,975) (5,047)

	 Proceeds from sales of investment securities 277 12,806 2,074 

	 Proceeds from withdrawal of investments in securities – 1,670 –

	 Other, net (2,146) (727) (16,071)

			   Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (204,026) 230,019 (1,527,941)

Cash flows from financing activities:

	 Decrease in short-term loans, net (7,900) – (59,162)

	 Repayment of long-term loans (62,775) (72,702) (470,119)

	 Proceeds from issuance of bonds – 169,799 –

	 Redemption of bonds (70,000) – (524,226)

	 Repayment of finance lease obligations (3,764) (3,011) (28,188)

	 Proceeds from share issuance to non-controlling shareholders 2,000 – 14,977 

	 Net increase of treasury stock (15) (16) (112)

	 Other, net (455) (424) (3,407)

			   Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (142,909) 93,646 (1,070,238)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2,527 3,626 18,924 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 105,414 250,878 789,440 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 621,037 370,322 4,650,917 

Net decrease resulting from changes in scope of consolidation – (163) –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 24) ¥ 726,451 ¥ 621,037 $ 5,440,357

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Thousands Yen (Millions)

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Number of 
shares of 

common stock 
outstanding

Common  
stock

Capital  
surplus

Retained 
earnings 

(Accumulated 
deficit)

Treasury  
stock

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Unrealized  
gain on 

securities

Deferred 
gain (loss) on 

derivatives 
under hedge 
accounting

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Defined 
retirement 

benefit plans Total

Non-
controlling 
interests Total equity

Balance at March 31, 2021 470,342 ¥467,601 ¥407,329 ¥145,101 ¥(59,335) ¥ 960,696 ¥38,468 ¥ 21,652 ¥ 2,666 ¥(16,249) ¥ 46,537 ¥5,087 ¥1,012,320

  C�umulative effects of changes in 
accounting policies (114,656) (114,656) (114,656)

Restated balance 467,601 407,329 30,445 (59,335) 846,040 38,468 21,652 2,666 (16,249) 46,537 5,087 897,664

  Issuance of new shares –

  N�et loss attributable to owners of 
the parent (143,628) (143,628) (143,628)

  Purchase of treasury stock (Note 16) (6) (16) (16) (16)

  Disposal of treasury stock (Note 16) (1) 1 0 0

  Changes in scope of consolidation (45) (45) (45)

  Changes in scope of equity method –

  Net changes in the year (6,157) 50,515 1,022 2,981 48,361 1,079 49,440

Total changes during the fiscal year (6) – (1) (143,673) (15) (143,689) (6,157) 50,515 1,022 2,981 48,361 1,079 (94,249)

Balance at March 31, 2022 470,336 467,601 407,328 (113,228) (59,350) 702,351 32,311 72,167 3,688 (13,268) 94,898 6,166 803,415

  N�et income attributable to owners of 
the parent 89,477 89,477 89,477

  Purchase of treasury stock (Note 16) (5) (15) (15) (15)
  Disposal of treasury stock (Note 16) (0) 0 0 0
  Changes in scope of consolidation –
  Changes in scope of equity method 2,625 2,625 2,625

  Net changes in the year 4,513 (29,671) (1,207) (552) (26,917) 1,806 (25,111)

Total changes during the fiscal year (5) – (0) 92,102 (15) 92,087 4,513 (29,671) (1,207) (552) (26,917) 1,806 66,976

Balance at March 31, 2023 470,331 ¥467,601 ¥407,328 ¥ (21,126) ¥(59,365) ¥ 794,438 ¥36,824 ¥ 42,496 ¥ 2,481 ¥(13,820) ¥ 67,981 ¥7,972 ¥   870,391

Thousands U.S. dollars (Thousands) (Note 2)

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Number of 
shares of 

common stock 
outstanding

Common  
stock

Capital  
surplus

Retained 
earnings 

(Accumulated 
deficit)

Treasury  
stock

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Unrealized  
gain on 

securities

Deferred 
gain (loss) on 

derivatives 
under hedge 
accounting

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Defined 
retirement 

benefit plans Total

Non-
controlling 
interests Total equity

Balance at March 31, 2022 470,336 $3,501,842 $3,050,460 $(847,959) $(444,469) $5,259,874 $241,975 $ 540,455 $27,619 $  (99,363) $ 710,686 $46,176 $6,016,737

  N�et income attributable to owners of 
the parent 670,089 670,089 670,089

  Purchase of treasury stock (Note 16) (5) (112) (112) (112)
  Disposal of treasury stock (Note 16) (0) 0
  Changes in scope of consolidation –
  Changes in scope of equity method 19,658 19,658 19,658

  Net changes in the year 33,797 (222,204) (9,039) (4,133) (201,580) 13,525 (188,055)

Total changes during the fiscal year (5) – (0) 689,747 (112) 689,633 33,797 (222,204) (9,039) (4,133) (201,580) 13,525 501,578

Balance at March 31, 2023 470,331 $3,501,842 $3,050,460 $(158,211) $(444,581) $5,949,509 $275,773 $ 318,250 $18,580 $(103,497) $ 509,106 $59,701 $6,518,317

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements
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ANA HOLDINGS INC.  Financial Results 2023

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of ANA HOLDINGS INC. (hereinafter referred to as the “Company”) and its consolidated 
subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Japanese Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and its 
related accounting regulations and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which are different 
in certain respects as to the application and disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, certain reclassifications and rearrangements have been made to the consolidated financial 
statements issued domestically in order to present them in a form which is more familiar to readers outside Japan. In addition, certain reclassifica-
tions have been made in the consolidated financial statements of the previous fiscal year to conform to the classifications used in the current 
fiscal year.

The consolidated financial statements presented herein are expressed in Japanese yen and, solely for the convenience of readers outside of 
Japan, have been translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of ¥133.53 = US$1, the approximate exchange rate prevailing on the Tokyo Foreign 
Exchange Market on March 31, 2023. This translation should not be construed as a representation that the amounts shown could be converted 
into U.S. dollars at that or any other rate. Translations of U.S. dollars are rounded down to the nearest thousand and, therefore, the totals shown 
in tables do not necessarily agree with the sums of the individual amounts.

(1) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2023 include the accounts of the Company and its 54 (55 in 2022) significant subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”).

Under the control and influence concepts, those companies in which the Company, directly or indirectly, is able to exercise control over 
operations are fully consolidated, and those companies over which the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted for by 
the equity method.

Investments in 13 (14 in 2022) unconsolidated subsidiaries and significant affiliates are accounted for by the equity method.

The difference between the cost and the underlying net assets at dates of acquisition of consolidated subsidiaries and companies accounted for 
by the equity method is amortized using the straight-line method over a period of 10 to 15 years.

Investments in 103 (106 in 2022) subsidiaries and affiliates which are not consolidated or accounted for by the equity method are stated at cost.  
If the equity method of accounting had been applied to the investments in these companies, the effect on the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements would not be material.

All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. All material unrealized profit included in assets 
resulting from transactions within the Group is also eliminated.

Certain subsidiaries have fiscal years ending on December 31 and February 28, and necessary adjustments for significant transactions, if any, are 
made in consolidation.

(2) Foreign currency translation

All short-term and long-term monetary receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are translated into yen at the rates of 
exchange in effect at the balance sheet date, except for payables and receivables hedged by qualified forward exchange contracts, and differ-
ences arising from the translation are included in the consolidated statement of income.

The balance sheet accounts of consolidated foreign subsidiaries are translated into yen at the rates of exchange in effect at the balance sheet 
date, except for the components of equity excluding non-controlling interests, which are translated at their historical exchange rates. Revenue 
and expense accounts are translated at the average rate of exchange in effect during the year. Differences arising from the translation are 
presented as foreign currency translation adjustments in equity.

(3) Marketable securities and investment securities

Marketable securities and investment securities are classified into three categories: trading, held-to-maturity or available-for-sale. Under the 
accounting standard, trading securities are carried at fair value and held-to-maturity securities are carried at amortized cost. Marketable securities 
classified as available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value with changes in unrealized holding gain or loss, net of the applicable income 
taxes, included directly in equity. Non-marketable securities classified as available-for-sale securities are carried at cost, determined by the 
moving-average method. See Note 6 “Marketable securities and investment securities” for additional information.

(4) Allowance for doubtful accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts is stated in amounts considered to be appropriate based on the Group’s past credit loss experience and an 
evaluation of potential losses in the receivables outstanding.

(5) Inventories

Inventories include aircraft spare parts, supplies and stock in trade of consolidated subsidiaries, and are stated at cost, principally determined by 
the moving-average method. The net book value of inventories in the consolidated balance sheet is written down when their net realizable value 
is less than book value. See Note 7 “Inventories” and Note 26 “Supplementary information for the consolidated statement of income” for addi-
tional information.

(6) Property and equipment (excluding leased assets)

Property and equipment, excluding leased assets, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of property and equipment is 
computed based on the estimated useful lives. Major assets are depreciated by the following method:

  Buildings..................................	 Straight-line method
  Aircraft.....................................	 Straight-line method

The Company and certain subsidiaries employ principally the following useful lives for major property and equipment based upon the Company’s 
estimate of durability:

  Buildings..................................	 3–50 years
  Aircraft.....................................	 9–25 years

Major additions and improvements are capitalized at cost. Maintenance and repairs, including minor remodels and improvements, are charged to 
income as incurred.

The Group reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate the carrying amount of an asset  
or asset group may not be recoverable. The assets of the Group are grouped by individual property in the case of rental real estate, assets 
determined to be sold and idle assets, and by management accounting categories in the case of business assets. An impairment loss is recog-
nized if the carrying amount of an asset or asset group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from  
the continued use and eventual disposition of the asset or asset group. The impairment loss would be measured as the amount by which the 
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of the discounted cash flows from the continued use  
and eventual disposition of the asset or the net selling price at disposition. See Note 25 “Impairment loss” for additional information.

(7) Intangible assets and amortization (excluding leased assets)

Intangible assets are amortized principally by the straight-line method. Cost of software purchased for internal use is amortized by the straight-
line method over five years, which is the estimated useful life of purchased software.

(8) Retirement benefits

The retirement benefit plans of the Group cover substantially all employees other than directors and corporate auditors. Under the terms of this 
plan, eligible employees are entitled, upon mandatory retirement or earlier voluntary severance, to lump-sum payments or annuity payments 
based on their compensation at the time of leaving and years of service with the Company and subsidiaries.

The Company and certain significant domestic subsidiaries have trustee employee pension funds to provide coverage for part of the lump-sum 
benefits or annuity payments.

The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries sponsor defined contribution pension plans as well as defined benefit pension plans.

The Company accounts for the liability for retirement benefits based on the projected benefit obligations and plan assets at the balance sheet 
date. The projected benefit obligations are attributed to periods on a benefit formula basis. Actuarial gains and losses and past service costs  
that are yet to be recognized in profit or loss are recognized within equity (accumulated other comprehensive income), after adjusting for  
tax effects, and are recognized in profit or loss over the average remaining service years of employees.

(9) Income taxes

The provision for income taxes is computed based on the pretax income included in the consolidated statement of income. The asset and liability 
approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred taxes are measured by applying currently enacted income tax rates to the 
temporary differences. See Note 13 “Income taxes” for additional information.

(10) Leases

Leased assets arising from transactions under finance lease contracts are depreciated to a residual value of zero by the straight-line method 
using the term of the contract as the useful life.

(11) Derivatives

The Group uses derivatives, such as forward foreign currency exchange contracts, interest rate swaps, and commodity options and swaps to 
limit its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices. The Group does not use derivatives for 
trading purposes.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
ANA HOLDINGS INC. and its consolidated subsidiaries 
Year Ended March 31, 2023

1.     Basis of presenting consolidated financial statements

2.     Translation of financial statements

3.     Summary of significant accounting policies
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ANA HOLDINGS INC.  Financial Results 2023

Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value with changes in unrealized gains or losses charged or credited to income, except for those 
which meet the criteria for deferral hedge accounting under which an unrealized gain or loss is deferred. Receivables and payables hedged by 
qualified forward exchange contracts are translated at the corresponding foreign exchange contract rates. Interest rate swaps that qualify for 
hedge accounting and meet specific matching criteria are not measured at fair value, but the differential paid or received under the swap agree-
ments is recognized and included in interest expenses.

(12) Revenue recognition

The Group recognizes revenue when (or as) it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring promised goods or services (i.e., an asset) to a 
customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset. The Group recognizes as revenue the amount expected 
to be received upon Air Transportation, Airline Related, Travel Services, Trade and Retail, and Others.

The Group recognize revenue based on the five-step approach

STEP 1: Identify the contract with the customer

STEP 2: Identify the performance obligations

STEP 3: Determine the transaction price

STEP 4: Allocate the transaction price to the obligations

STEP 5: Recognize revenue when the obligations are satisfied

The details of the main performance obligations and the normal points of time for recognizing revenue in major services are as follows.

(i) �Air 
Transportation

Passenger revenue 
Revenue is earned mainly from passenger transportation services by air. The Group is obliged to provide international and domestic  
air transportation services to customers based on the terms of carriage, etc., and revenue is recognized when the transportation  
services are provided. As the Group may carry out sales discounts and pay rebates according to sales performance, the consideration 
for the transaction is subject to change. In addition, transaction consideration is usually received prior to the fulfillment of performance 
obligations. 
 
Cargo and Mail revenue 
Revenue is earned mainly from cargo and mail transportation services. The Group is obliged to provide cargo and mail transportation 
services for international and domestic flights based on the conditions of carriage, etc., and revenue is recognized when the transporta-
tion services are provided. For sales and rebates, the Group will pay a rebate according to the sales performance. Therefore, the con-
sideration for the transaction may fluctuate. In addition, the consideration for the transaction is received after the completion of the air 
transportation service of cargo and mail. 
 
Others 
The Group operates the membership program “ANA Mileage Club.” This program awards points (miles, sky-coin, etc.) to member cus-
tomers depending on the use of our flights and the services of partner companies, and the miles awarded can be redeemed for goods 
and services provided by the Group or partner companies.
  The main element of points is miles, which separately identify performance obligations as an option to purchase additional goods or ser-
vices in the future. As a result, the transaction price allocated to the miles will be recognized as a contract liability at the time the miles are 
granted, and the revenue will be recognized when the goods or services exchanged for the miles are used or when the miles expire.
  The transaction price is allocated based on the proportion of the independent selling price for each performance obligation included 
in the contract, and the independent selling price of miles is estimated by taking into account the composition ratio of goods and ser-
vices that the customers select when using miles and the expected to expire.

(ii) �Airline  
Related

The Group is obliged to provide services such as airport ground support services, aircraft maintenance and system development that 
accompany air transportation based on contracts with air carriers. Revenue is recognized mainly over a certain period of time as the 
service is provided.

(iii) �Travel  
Services

Revenue is earned from planning and sales of domestic and overseas travel. The Group plans travel products based on standard travel 
agency agreements, and has an itinerary management obligation to arrange for travelers to receive transportation, accommodation and 
other travel services. Revenue is recognized over a certain period of time as the service is provided. Transaction consideration is primar-
ily received prior to fulfilling performance obligations.

(iv) �Trade and  
Retail

Revenue is earned from import/export of aviation-related materials, shops and mail-order, etc. Revenue is recognized when the Group 
fulfills performance obligations primarily by delivery of goods to customers.

(v) Others Revenue is earned from building management dispatching, personnel training business, etc. Revenue is recognized over a period of 
time as the service is provided.

(13) Cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term investments that are readily convertible into cash and exposed to insignificant risk of changes in value.  
Cash equivalents include time deposits and negotiable certificates of deposit, all of which mature or become due within three months of  
the date of acquisition. See Note 24 “Supplementary cash flow information” for additional information.

(14) Per share information

Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of 
common shares outstanding for the period, retroactively adjusted for stock splits.

Diluted net income per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities were exercised or converted into common stock. Diluted 
net income per share of common stock assumes full conversion of the outstanding convertible notes and bonds at the beginning of the year (or 
at the time of issuance) with an applicable adjustment for related interest expense, net of tax, and full exercise of outstanding warrants.

Diluted net income per share is not presented as the effect of including potential common shares is anti-dilutive.

Cash dividends per share presented in the accompanying consolidated statement of income are dividends applicable to the respective fiscal 
years, including dividends to be paid after the end of the year.

(15) Share remuneration plan for directors

The Company has transactions for delivery of the Company’s treasury stock through a trust as a share remuneration plan (the “Trust for Delivery 
of Shares to Directors”) in order to improve its operating performance, increase its corporate value, and raise the directors’ awareness of 
shareholder-oriented management.

(i) Transaction outline

Trust for Delivery of Shares to Directors is a system in which funds are contributed by the Company, and shares acquired are distributed to the 
Company’s directors in accordance with the Company’s operating performance, etc.

(ii) The Company’s treasury stock remaining in the trust

The Company’s treasury stock remaining in the trust is recorded at book value (excluding associated expenses) of the trust and is reflected as 
treasury stock in equity. The book value was ¥608 million for the previous fiscal year and ¥608 million for the current fiscal year. The number of 
shares was 178 thousand shares for the previous fiscal year and 178 thousand shares for the current fiscal year.

(16) New accounting standard not yet adopted

Accounting Standard for Current Income Taxes, etc.

Accounting Standard for Current Income Taxes (Accounting Standards Board of Japan (“ASBJ”) Statement No. 27, October 28, 2022)

Accounting Standard for Presentation of Comprehensive Income (ASBJ Statement No. 25, October 28, 2022)

Guidance on Accounting Standard for Tax Effect Accounting (ASBJ Guidance No. 28, October 28, 2022)

(i) Overview

In February 2018, ASBJ Statement No. 28, “Partial Amendments to Accounting Standard for Tax Effect Accounting,” etc., was released. The 
transfer of the practical guideline on tax effect accounting to the ASBJ from The Japanese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“JICPA”) was 
completed in the process of deliberation. In the course of the deliberation process, the following two issues that were to be reviewed again after 
the release of ASBJ Statement No. 28, etc., were discussed and released.

(a) Classification of tax expense (taxation on other comprehensive income)

(b) �Tax Effects on Sales of Shares of Subsidiaries (Shares in Subsidiaries or Affiliated Companies) in Cases Where Group Corporate 
Taxation is Applied Tax Effects of Sales of Shares of Subsidiary or Affiliated Company

(ii) Application date

The Group will apply from the beginning of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2025.

(iii) Effect of adoption of the accounting standard

The effect of the application of the “Accounting Standard for Current Income Taxes” and other related standards on the consolidated financial 
statements is currently under evaluation.

(17) Changes in presentation method

“Subsidies for employment adjustment” and “Gain on sales of property and equipment,” which were separately presented in the previous fiscal 
year, are included in “Other income (expenses), net” from this fiscal year because they became insignificant in terms of amount.

To reflect these changes in presentation, reclassification has been made for the previous consolidated fiscal year. As a result, ¥23,955 million 
($179,397 thousand) presented as “Subsidies for employment adjustment” and ¥20,032 million ($150,018 thousand) presented as “Gain on 
sales of property and equipment” in the previous fiscal year have been reclassified as “Other income (expenses), net.”

4.     Change in accounting policies

Application of Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement, etc.

The Group has applied “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement” (ASBJ Guidance No. 31, June 17, 2021; 
hereinafter, “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement”) from the beginning of the fiscal year. In accordance 
with Article 27-2 of “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement”, the Group has applied prospectively the 
new accounting policy prescribed by Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement. The application had no 
effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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5.     Significant accounting estimates

(1) Recoverability of deferred tax assets

(i) Amount recorded in the consolidated financial statements

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Deferred tax assets ¥263,303 ¥273,452 $1,971,864

(ii) Other information of accounting estimates

The Group recorded deferred tax assets related to tax loss carried forward in FY2020 and FY2021 due to a decrease in demand for airline 
passengers associated with the spread of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19). In the current consolidated fiscal year, deferred tax assets of 
¥263,303 million related to tax loss carried forward, etc., were recorded.

The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries apply the group tax sharing system. The corporations subject to the group tax 
sharing system make judgments on the recoverability based on the future taxable income, etc. of the entire tax sharing group with regard to 
corporate taxes (national taxes), and make judgments on the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on the future taxable income, etc. of 
each corporation with regard to local taxes. With respect to tax loss carried forward, based on the estimated future taxable income, the Company 
schedule the expected year and amount to be deducted from tax loss carried forward, and record the amount expected to be recovered as 
deferred tax assets.

Regarding the judgment on the recoverability of deferred tax assets for the entire tax sharing group, the future taxable income of ANA HOLDINGS 
INC. and ALL NIPPON AIRWAYS CO., LTD., which constitutes a significant portion of the future taxable income is estimated based on a future 
plan assuming that international and domestic passenger demand will generally recover to 2019 levels by the end of the fiscal year ending March 
31, 2026.

Changes in assumptions due to changes in demand trends and other factors may have a material impact on the consolidated financial state-
ments in the following fiscal year and thereafter.

(2) Goodwill impairment related to the Air Transportation Business

(i) Amount recognized in the consolidated financial statements

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Goodwill related to the Air Transportation Business ¥18,000 ¥20,001 $134,801

(ii) Other information of accounting estimates

During the current consolidated fiscal year, due to the significant decline in air travel demand resulting from the impact of COVID-19, the 
Company identified indicators of impairment with respect to the goodwill that arose when the Company made Peach Aviation Limited a consoli-
dated subsidiary in April 2017. For the said goodwill, the Company did not recognize an impairment loss as it determined that the undiscounted 
future cash flows from Peach Aviation’s air transportation business exceeded the book values.

These undiscounted future cash flows were determined by management’s best estimate and judgment based on the business plan with the 
assumption that demand will continue to recover in the future.

Changes in assumptions due to changes in demand trends and other factors may have a material impact on the consolidated financial state-
ments in the following fiscal year and thereafter.

(3) Revenue Recognition of the Company’s point program

(i) Amounts recorded in consolidated financial statements

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Contract liability ¥149,540 ¥161,533 $1,119,898

(ii) Other information of Accounting estimates

The Group operates the membership program “ANA Mileage Club”. This program awards points (miles and sky-coin, etc.) to member customers 
depending on the use of our flights and the services of partner companies.

These points awarded individually identify performance obligations as an option for future purchase of additional goods or services provided by 
the Group or partner companies. The transaction price allocated to these points are recognized as a contract liability at the time the miles and 
sky-coin, etc., are granted, and the revenue is recognized when the goods or services exchanged for these points are used or when these points 
expire. The transaction price is allocated based on the proportion of the independent selling price for each performance obligation included in the 
contract, and the independent selling price of these points are estimated by considering the composition ratio of goods and services that the 
customers select when using the points and the expected expiration of points. This assumption is highly uncertain, and if the composition ratio of 
goods and services that customers select and the expected expiration amount are changed, it may have a significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements for the following fiscal year or thereafter.

6.     Marketable securities and investment securities

Marketable and investment securities at March 31, 2023 and 2022 are summarized as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Current:
  Negotiable certificates of deposits ¥580,037 ¥498,310 $4,343,870
  Other – – –

Total ¥580,037 ¥498,310 $4,343,870
Non-current:
  Marketable equity securities ¥  99,894 ¥  92,160 $   748,101
  Other 23,143 21,808 173,316

Total ¥123,037 ¥113,968 $   921,418

The costs and aggregate fair values of marketable and investment securities at March 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2023 Cost Unrealized gains Unrealized losses Fair value

Securities classified as:
  Available-for-sale:
    Negotiable certificates of deposit ¥580,037 ¥         – ¥        – ¥580,037 

    Marketable equity securities 49,411 53,829 (3,346) 99,894 
    Held-to-maturity 1,855 – (218) 1,637 

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2022 Cost Unrealized gains Unrealized losses Fair value

Securities classified as:
  Available-for-sale:
    Negotiable certificates of deposit ¥498,310 ¥         – ¥        – ¥498,310 

    Marketable equity securities 47,037 46,269 (1,146) 92,160 
    Held-to-maturity 1,855 – (37) 1,818 

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

As of March 31, 2023 Cost Unrealized gains Unrealized losses Fair value

Securities classified as:
  Available-for-sale:
    Negotiable certificates of deposit $4,343,870 $           – $         – $4,343,870 

    Marketable equity securities 370,036 403,122 (25,058) 748,101 
    Held-to-maturity 13,892 – (1,632) 12,259 

The proceeds, realized gains, and realized losses on the available-for-sale securities sold during the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 were 
as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Proceeds ¥– ¥12,926 $–
Gain on sales – 8,278 –
Loss on sales – – –

The breakdown of securities for which fair value cannot be reliably determined at March 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Available-for-sale ¥21,288 ¥19,953 $159,424
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The redemption schedule of available-for-sale securities with maturities and held-to-maturity securities at March 31, 2023 and 2022 is  
summarized as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Bonds:
  Within 1 year ¥            – ¥           – $              –
  Over 1 year to 5 years – – –
  Over 5 years to 10 years – – –
  Over 10 years 1,855 1,855 13,892
Other securities with maturities:
  Within 1 year 580,037 498,310 4,343,870 
  Over 1 year to 5 years 6,868 2,971 51,434
  Over 5 years to 10 years 1,275 3,816 9,548
  Over 10 years – – –

Total:
  Within 1 year ¥580,037 ¥498,310 $4,343,870 
  Over 1 year to 5 years 6,868 2,971 51,434
  Over 5 years to 10 years 1,275 3,816 9,548

  Over 10 years 1,855 1,855 13,892

7.     Inventories

Inventories at March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following: 

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Inventories (Merchandise) ¥  8,958 ¥  9,218 $  67,086
Inventories (Supplies) 35,697 34,856 267,333

Total ¥44,655 ¥44,074 $334,419

8.     Investments in and advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates

Investments in and advances to unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliates at March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Investments in capital stock ¥26,395 ¥26,311 $197,670
Advances 5,272 5,321 39,481

Total ¥31,667 ¥31,632 $237,152

9.     Short-term loans and long-term debt

Short-term loans and current portion of long-term debt at March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Short-term loans ¥  92,170 ¥100,070 $   690,256
Current portion of long-term loans 84,633 62,775 633,812
Current portion of bonds 30,000 70,000 224,668
Current portion of finance lease obligations 3,047 4,057 22,818

Total ¥209,850 ¥236,902 $1,571,556

The weighted-average interest rates on the above short-term loans were 1.16% and 1.16% per annum in 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Long-term debt at March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Bonds:
1.22% notes due 2024 ¥     30,000 ¥     30,000 $     224,668 
1.20% notes due 2026 15,000 15,000 112,334 
0.99% notes due 2036 20,000 20,000 149,779 
0.88% notes due 2037 10,000 10,000 74,889 
Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights due 2022 – 70,000 –
Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights due 2024 70,000 70,000 524,226 
0.82% notes due 2038 10,000 10,000 74,889 
0.47% notes due 2028 10,000 10,000 74,889 
0.27% notes due 2026 5,000 5,000 37,444 
0.84% notes due 2039 15,000 15,000 112,334 
0.27% notes due 2025 30,000 30,000 224,668 
0.28% notes due 2029 10,000 10,000 74,889 
0.69% notes due 2039 10,000 10,000 74,889 
0.48% notes due 2026 20,000 20,000 149,779 
Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights due 2031 150,000 150,000 1,123,343 

405,000 475,000 3,033,026 
Long-term debt principally from banks:
  T�he weighted-average interest rates were 2.31% and 2.26% per annum in 2023 and 2022,  

maturing in installments through 2057 1,102,218 1,164,993 8,254,459 

Finance lease obligations:
  Finance lease agreements expiring through 2044 8,530 10,045 63,880 

1,515,748 1,650,038 11,351,366 
  Less current portion 117,680 136,832 881,300 

Total ¥1,398,068 ¥1,513,206 $10,470,066 

The details of the convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights are as follows:

Zero coupon convertible bonds due 2024

Class of shares to be issued Common stock
Total issue price of stock acquisition rights Zero
Initial conversion price ¥5,100 ($46.06) per share
Total issue price ¥70,000 million ($632,282 thousand)
Total issue price of shares issued upon the exercise of stock acquisition rights –
Percentage of stock acquisition rights granted 100.0%
Exercise period October 3, 2017 through September 5, 2024

If all of these outstanding warrants had been exercised at March 31, 2023, 13,972,892 shares of common stock would have been issued.

Zero coupon convertible bonds due 2031

Class of shares to be issued Common stock
Total issue price of stock acquisition rights Zero
Initial conversion price ¥2,883 ($23.55) per share
Total issue price ¥150,000 million ($1,225,590 thousand)
Total issue price of shares issued upon the exercise of stock acquisition rights –
Percentage of stock acquisition rights granted 100.0%
Exercise period December 24, 2021 through November 26, 2031

If all of these outstanding warrants had been exercised at March 31, 2023, 52,029,136 shares of common stock would have been issued.

The conversion price of the convertible bonds is subject to adjustments to reflect stock splits and certain other events.

As is customary in Japan, short-term and long-term bank loans are made under general agreements, which provide that security and guarantees 
for future and present indebtedness will be given upon request of the bank, and that the bank shall have the right, as the obligation becomes due 
or in the event of default and certain other specified events, to offset cash deposits against such obligations due to the bank.
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The following assets were pledged as collateral for short-term and long-term debt at March 31, 2023 and 2022:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Assets at net book value:
  Aircraft (including aircraft spare parts included in inventories) ¥673,731 ¥733,474 $5,045,540
  Land and buildings 1,869 2,234 13,996
  Lease receivables and investments in leases 8,643 9,878 64,727
  Others 10,365 8,319 77,623

Total ¥694,611 ¥753,907 $5,201,909

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt after March 31, 2023 are as follows:

Years ending March 31 Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2024 ¥   117,680 $     881,300
2025 145,265 1,087,882
2026 96,969 726,196
2027 101,268 758,391
2028 59,024 442,028

Thereafter 995,542 7,455,568

Total ¥1,515,748 $11,351,366

10.    Retirement benefit plans

The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries provide defined contribution pension plans as well as defined benefit pension plans, i.e., 
defined benefit corporate pension plans and lump-sum payment plans for the benefit of employees. Premium severance pay may be paid at the 
time of retirement of eligible employees in certain cases.

Certain consolidated subsidiaries adopting defined benefit corporate pension plans and lump-sum payment plans use a simplified method for 
calculating retirement benefit expenses and liabilities.

(1) The changes in the defined benefit obligation for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Balance at the beginning of the fiscal year ¥217,959 ¥224,180 $1,632,284
  Service cost 10,485 10,513 78,521
  Interest cost 1,657 1,692 12,409
  Actuarial gains (losses) 1,722 (1,609) 12,895 
  Benefits paid (14,752) (16,746) (110,477)
  Other 8 (71) 59 

Balance at the end of the fiscal year ¥217,079 ¥217,959 $1,625,694

(2) The changes in plan assets for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Balance at the beginning of the fiscal year ¥61,524 ¥64,064 $460,750
  Expected return on plan assets 761 807 5,699
  Actuarial losses (2,404) (523) (18,003)
  Employer contributions 2,335 2,346 17,486
  Benefits paid (4,648) (5,170) (34,808)
  Other – – –

Balance at the end of the fiscal year ¥57,568 ¥61,524 $431,124

(3) �A reconciliation between the liability recorded in the consolidated balance sheet and the balances of the defined benefit 
obligation and plan assets at March 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Funded defined benefit obligation ¥  67,958 ¥  68,136 $   508,934
Plan assets at fair value (57,568) (61,524) (431,124)

10,390 6,612 77,810
Unfunded defined benefit obligation 149,121 149,823 1,116,760

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation in the consolidated balance sheet ¥159,511 ¥156,435 $1,194,570

Liability for retirement benefits ¥161,129 ¥157,395 $1,206,687
Asset for defined benefits (1,618) (960) (12,117)

Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation in the consolidated balance sheet ¥159,511 ¥156,435 $1,194,570

(4) The components of net periodic benefit costs for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Service cost ¥10,485 ¥10,513 $  78,521
Interest cost 1,657 1,692 12,409
Expected return on plan assets (761) (807) (5,699)
Recognized actuarial losses 2,503 2,094 18,744
Amortization of past service cost 881 872 6,597

Net periodic benefit costs ¥14,765 ¥14,364 $110,574

(5) �Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income (before income tax effect) related to the defined retirement benefit 
plans for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Past service cost ¥    881 ¥   872 $   6,597 
Actuarial (losses) gains (1,623) 3,180 (12,154)

Total ¥   (742) ¥4,052 $  (5,556)

(6) �Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (before income tax effect) related to the defined 
retirement benefit plans at March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Unrecognized actuarial losses ¥(14,171) ¥(12,548) $(106,125)
Unrecognized past service cost (5,676) (6,557) (42,507)

Total ¥(19,847) ¥(19,105) $(148,633)

(7) Plan assets

(i) Components of plan assets

Plan assets at March 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

2023 2022
Bonds 39% 40%
General accounts 14 14 
Stocks 14 13 
Cash and deposits 6 3 
Other 27 30 

Total 100% 100%

(ii) Method of determining the expected rate of return on plan assets

The expected rate of return on plan assets has been estimated based on the anticipated allocation to each plan asset class and the 
expected long-term returns on plan assets held in each category.
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(8) Assumptions used for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 are set forth as follows:

2023 2022
Discount rates 0.1 – 1.5% 0.1 – 1.2%
Expected rates of return on plan assets 1.0 – 2.5% 1.0 – 2.5%

(i) Defined contribution pension plans

The contributions to the defined contribution pension plans of the Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries were ¥3,884 million ($31,734 
thousand) and ¥4,587 million for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

11.    Stock options

Consolidated subsidiary: avatarin Inc.

Compensation expense for employee stock options are recognized based on the fair value at the date of grant and over the vesting period as 
consideration for receiving goods or services in accordance with ASBJ Statement No. 8, “Accounting Standard for Share-based Payment.”

(1) Items and amounts of related expenses presented in the consolidated accounts

There are no applicable items.

(2) Amount recorded as profit due to expiration of non-exercise of rights

There are no applicable items.

(3) Description of stock options, movement of stock options and status of related changes

(i) Description of stock options

1st subscription rights to share

Category and number of people eligible to be granted stock options Executive officers in the consolidated subsidiary: 2 people
Number of stock options granted by type of stock Common shares: 27,500 shares (*)

Granted date February 1, 2022
Vesting conditions Listing of the consolidated subsidiary on domestic or  

overseas financial instruments exchanges, etc.
Vesting period No relevant service period has been established.
Exercise period From February 1, 2022 to December 28, 2036

2nd subscription rights to share

Category and number of people eligible to be granted stock options Employee in the consolidated subsidiary: 27 people
Number of stock options granted by type of stock Common shares: 20,235 shares (*)

Granted date February 1, 2022
Vesting conditions Listing of the consolidated subsidiary on domestic or  

overseas financial instruments exchanges, etc.
Vesting period No relevant service period has been established.
Exercise period From February 1, 2022 to December 28, 2031

(*) Options are presented after conversion to the number of the consolidated subsidiary shares.

(ii) Movement of stock options and status of related changes

With respect to stock options existing during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2023, the number of stock options is converted into the number of 
shares:

(a) Number of stock options

1st subscription 
rights to share

2nd subscription 
rights to share

Share subscription rights which are not yet vested
Outstanding as of March 31, 2022 ¥27,500 ¥20,235
Granted
Canceled – 4,985
Vested – –

Unvested balance 27,500 15,250

(b) Price information

1st subscription 
rights to share

2nd subscription 
rights to share

Exercise price (yen) ¥11,150 ¥11,150 
Weighted average exercise price (yen) – –

Fair value at the granted date (yen) – –

1st subscription 
rights to share

2nd subscription 
rights to share

Exercise price (U.S dollars) $83.50 $83.50
Weighted average exercise price (U.S dollars) – –

Fair value at the granted date (U.S dollars) – –

(4) Method of estimating the fair value of stock options

At the time of granting the 1st and 2nd subscription rights to share, the consolidated subsidiary was a private company. It depends on the 
method of estimating intrinsic value per unit of stock options, instead of the method of estimating the fair valuation unit price of stock options. In 
addition, the valuation method for the company’s stock, which is the basis for calculating the intrinsic value per unit, uses the price calculated by 
using both the Discounted cash flow method and the transaction case method.

(5) Method of estimating the number of vested stock option rights

As reasonable estimation of the number of rights to be canceled in the future is difficult, the method that reflects only the actual number of rights 
canceled is used.

(6) �Total intrinsic value at the end of the current consolidated fiscal year when calculated based on the intrinsic value per unit of 
stock options and total intrinsic value of stock options exercised in the current consolidated fiscal year on the exercise date

(i) Total intrinsic value at the end of the current consolidated fiscal year (million yen) –

(ii) Intrinsic value of stock options exercised in the current consolidated fiscal year on the exercise date (million yen) –

12.    Asset retirement obligations

(1) Asset retirement obligations recorded on the consolidated balance sheet

(i) Overview of asset retirement obligations

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries enter into agreements with national government entities that allow for the use of Japanese 
government property and have entered into real estate lease contracts with such entities for the Head Office, sales branches, airport branches, 
and certain other offices. As the Company and its domestic subsidiaries have restoration obligations for such properties at the end of each lease 
period, related legal obligations required by law and the contracts are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as asset retirement obligations.

(ii) Calculation of asset retirement obligations

The Group estimates the expected period of use as 1 to 30 years and calculates the amount of asset retirement obligations with a discount rate 
of 0% to 2.27%.

The following table indicates the changes in asset retirement obligations for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Balance at the beginning of the fiscal year ¥ 3,582 ¥2,763 $26,825
Liabilities incurred due to the acquisition of property and equipment – 100 –
Accretion expense 14 15 104
Liabilities settled (1,050) (903) (7,863)
Other 256 1,607 1,917

Balance at the end of the fiscal year ¥ 2,802 ¥3,582 $20,984

(2) Asset retirement obligations not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries enter into agreements with national government entities that allow for the use of Japanese govern-
ment property, and have entered into real estate lease contracts with such entities for land and offices at airport facilities, including Tokyo 
International Airport, Narita International Airport, New Chitose Airport, Chubu Centrair International Airport, Osaka International Airport, Kansai 
International Airport, Fukuoka Airport, and Naha Airport, etc. The Company and its domestic subsidiaries have restoration obligations when 
they vacate and clear such facilities. However, as the above airports are considered to be critical infrastructure, it is beyond the control of the 
Company alone to determine when to vacate and clear such facilities, and it is also impossible to make reasonable estimates as there are 
currently no relocation plans for the above properties. Therefore, the Company and its domestic subsidiaries do not record asset retirement 
obligations for the related liabilities.
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13.    Income taxes

The Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries are subject to Japanese national and local income taxes which, in the aggregate, resulted 
in a normal effective statutory tax rate of 30.62% for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

The Group files a tax return under the group tax sharing system, which allows companies to base tax payments on the combined profits or 
losses of the parent company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries.

(1) �The tax effects of significant temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards which resulted in deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties at March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Deferred tax assets:
  Tax loss carryforwards (*) ¥180,187 ¥220,887 $1,349,412 
  Liability for retirement benefits 50,079 48,907 375,039 
  Contract liabilities of the Company’s point program 44,877 48,622 336,081 
  Prepaid expenses 12,773 10,975 95,656 
  Accrued bonuses to employees 10,506 3,128 78,678 
  Loss on investment in subsidiaries 6,075 6,142 45,495 
  Loss on valuation of assets 4,131 4,920 30,936 
  Unrealized gain on inventories and property and equipment 3,932 3,851 29,446 
  Long-term unearned revenue 3,545 4,753 26,548 
  Other provisions 1,317 1,112 9,862 
  Impairment loss 401 3,235 3,003 
  Other 39,151 29,840 293,200 
Total gross deferred tax assets 356,974 386,372 2,673,361 
Valuation allowance for tax loss carryforwards (*) (30,250) (44,789) (226,540)
Valuation allowance for the sum of deductible temporary differences, etc. (24,972) (20,207) (187,014)
Subtotal of valuation allowances (55,222) (64,996) (413,555)
Total net deferred tax assets 301,752 321,376 2,259,806 
Deferred tax liabilities:
  Deferred gain on hedging instruments (19,054) (31,508) (142,694)
  Unrealized gain on securities (16,019) (14,342) (119,965)
  Retained earnings of subsidiaries and affiliates (1,682) (1,597) (12,596)
  Other (1,900) (1,975) (14,229)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities (38,655) (49,422) (289,485)

Net deferred income taxes ¥263,097 ¥271,954 $1,970,321 

(*) Tax loss carryforwards and associated deferred tax assets by deadline of carryforward:

As of March 31, 2023

Yen (Millions)

Due within  
one year

Due after one 
year but within 

two years

Due after two 
years but within 

three years

Due after three 
years but within 

four years

Due after four 
years but within 

five years
Due after  
five years Total

Tax loss carryforwards (*1) ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥180,187 ¥180,187 

Valuation allowance – – – – – (30,250) (30,250)

Deferred tax assets (*2) ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥149,937 ¥149,937 

(*1) Tax loss carryforwards reflect the amounts resulting from multiplying the statutory tax rate.
(*2) �The Group recorded deferred tax assets of ¥149,937 million ($1,122,871 thousand) related to tax loss carryforwards due to a decrease in demand for airline passengers 

associated with COVID-19, etc. 
The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries apply the group tax sharing system. The corporations subject to the group tax sharing system make judge-
ments on the recoverability based on the future taxable income, etc., of the entire tax sharing group with regard to corporate taxes (national taxes), and make judgments on 
the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on the future taxable income, etc., of each corporation with regard to local taxes. With respect to tax loss carried forward, 
based on the estimated future taxable income, the Company schedule the expected year and amount to be deducted from tax loss carried forward, and record the amount 
expected to be recovered as deferred tax assets. 
Regarding the judgment on the recoverability of deferred tax assets for the entire tax sharing group, the future taxable income of ANA HOLDINGS INC. and ALL NIPPON 
AIRWAYS CO., LTD., which constitutes a significant portion of the future taxable income is estimated based on a future plan assuming that international and domestic 
passenger demand will generally recover to 2019 levels by the end of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2026. 
Changes in assumptions due to changes in demand trends and other factors may have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the following fiscal year 
and thereafter.

As of March 31, 2022

Yen (Millions)

Due within  
one year

Due after one 
year but within 

two years

Due after two 
years but within 

three years

Due after three 
years but within 

four years

Due after four 
years but within 

five years
Due after  
five years Total

Tax loss carryforwards (*1) ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥20 ¥– ¥220,867 ¥220,887 

Valuation allowance – – – – – (44,789) (44,789)

Deferred tax assets (*2) ¥– ¥– ¥– 20 ¥– ¥176,077 ¥176,097 

(*1) Tax loss carryforwards reflect the amounts resulting from multiplying the statutory tax rate.
(*2) �The Group recorded deferred tax assets of ¥176,097 million related to tax loss carryforwards due to a significant decrease in demand for airline passengers associated with 

COVID-19, etc. 
The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries apply the consolidated corporate-tax system, and the corporations subject to the consolidated corporate-tax 
system make judgments on the recoverability based on the future taxable income, etc., of the consolidated taxpayer with regard to corporate taxes (national taxes), and make 
judgments on the recoverability of deferred tax assets based on the future taxable income, etc. of each corporation with regard to local taxes. With respect to tax loss carried 
forward, based on the estimated future taxable income, the Company schedule the expected year and amount to be deducted from tax loss carried forward, and record the 
amount expected to be recovered as deferred tax assets. 
Regarding the judgment on the recoverability of deferred tax assets by the consolidated taxpayers, the future taxable income of ANA HOLDINGS INC. and ALL NIPPON 
AIRWAYS CO., LTD., which constitutes a significant portion of the future taxable income is estimated based on a future plan that assumes that demand for international 
passengers will approximately recover to the level in 2019 by the end of the fiscal year ending March 2024 and the demand for domestic passengers will recover to 90% of 
the level in 2019 by the end of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2023.

As of March 31, 2023

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

Due within  
one year

Due after one 
year but within 

two years

Due after two 
years but within 

three years

Due after three 
years but within 

four years

Due after four 
years but within 

five years
Due after  
five years Total

Tax loss carryforwards (*1) $– $– $– $– $– $1,349,412 $1,349,412 

Valuation allowance – – – – – (226,540) (226,540)

Deferred tax assets (*2) $– $– $– $– $– $1,122,871 $1,122,871 

(2) �A reconciliation of the difference between the normal effective statutory tax rate and the actual effective income tax rate for the 
years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

2023 2022
Normal effective statutory tax rate 30.62% 30.62%
Reconciliation:
  Amortization of goodwill 0.57 (0.37)
  Expenses not deductible for income tax purposes 0.25 (0.05)
  Inhabitants tax per capita levy 0.17 (0.11)
  Income taxes for prior periods 0.02 0.09
  Changes in valuation allowance (9.54) (12.29)
  Other, net (0.89) 1.00

Actual effective income tax rate 21.20% 18.89%

(3) Accounting for corporate and local corporate tax or tax effect accounting related to these taxes

The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries have made the transition from the consolidated tax return system to the group tax 
sharing system from the beginning of the fiscal year. Regarding the accounting treatment and disclosure of corporate tax, local corporate tax and 
tax effect accounting, the Company and certain of its domestic consolidated subsidiaries have applied the “Practical Solution on the Accounting 
and Disclosure Under the Group Tax Sharing System” (ASBJ Practical Issues Task Force No. 42, August 12, 2021; hereafter, “Practical Solution 
No. 42”). Based on Paragraph 32 (1) of Practical Solution No. 42, the Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries consider that 
there will be no effect from changes in accounting policies associated with the application of Practical Solution No. 42.
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14.    Other comprehensive income

The following table presents reclassification and tax effects allocated to each component of other comprehensive income for the years ended 
March 31, 2023 and 2022:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities:
  Amount arising during the fiscal year ¥   6,094 ¥     (267) $   45,637 
  Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss 91 (8,213) 681 
  Amount of valuation difference on available-for-sale securities before tax effect 6,185 (8,480) 46,319 
  Tax effect (1,719) 2,376 (12,873)
Total 4,466 (6,104) 33,445 
Deferred (loss) gain on derivatives under hedge accounting:
  Amount arising during the fiscal year 42,188 96,255 315,945 
  Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss (84,298) (23,797) (631,303)
  Amount of deferred (loss) gain on derivatives under hedge accounting before tax effect (42,110) 72,458 (315,358)
  Tax effect 12,469 (22,020) 93,378 
Total (29,641) 50,438 (221,980)
Foreign currency translation adjustments:
  Amount arising during the fiscal year 848 1,142 6,350 
  Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss (1,987) – (14,880)
Total (1,139) 1,142 (8,529)
Defined retirement benefit plans:
  Amount arising during the fiscal year (4,126) 1,086 (30,899)
  Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss 3,384 2,966 25,342 
  Amount of defined retirement benefit plans before tax effect (742) 4,052 (5,556)
  Tax effect 188 (1,098) 1,407 
Total (554) 2,954 (4,148)
Share of other comprehensive income in affiliates:
  Amount arising during the fiscal year 101 157 758 
  Reclassification adjustments to profit or loss (95) (112) (714)
Total 6 45 44 

Total other comprehensive (loss) income ¥(26,862) ¥ 48,475 $(201,168)

15.    Leases

(1) As lessee

(i) Finance leases

Finance lease transactions are capitalized by recognizing lease assets and lease obligations in the consolidated balance sheet.

Tangible fixed lease assets include mainly aircraft, flight equipment, host computers, and peripheral equipment. Intangible lease assets include 
software. The depreciation method for leased assets is described in Note 3 (10) “Leases.”

(ii) Operating leases

The amount of outstanding future lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Current portion of operating lease obligations ¥  76,577 ¥  67,161 $   573,481
Long-term operating lease obligations 284,919 276,297 2,133,745

Total ¥361,496 ¥343,458 $2,707,226

(2) As lessor

(i) Operating leases

The amount of outstanding future lease receivables under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Current portion of operating lease receivables ¥  2,224 ¥  2,164 $16,655
Long-term operating lease receivables 10,005 11,535 74,926

Total ¥12,228 ¥13,700 $91,574

16.    Supplementary information for the consolidated statement of changes in equity

Supplementary information for the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended March 31, 2023 consisted of the following:

(1) Dividends

Under the Companies Act of Japan (the “Companies Act”), the appropriation of unappropriated retained earnings of the Company with respect to 
a financial period is made by resolution of the Company’s shareholders at a general meeting to be held subsequent to the close of the financial 
period and the accounts for that period do not therefore reflect such appropriation.

(i) Dividends paid to shareholders

There are no applicable items.

(ii) Dividends with a shareholders’ cut-off date within the current fiscal year but an effective date within the subsequent fiscal year

There are no applicable items.

The Companies Act requires that an amount equal to 10% of dividends must be appropriated as a legal reserve (a component of retained 
earnings) or as additional paid-in capital (a component of capital surplus), depending on the equity account charged upon the payment of such 
dividends, until the aggregate amount of legal reserve and additional paid-in capital equals 25% of the common stock under the Companies Act, 
the total amount of additional paid-in capital and legal reserve may be reversed without limitation. The Companies Act also provides that common 
stock, legal reserve, additional paid-in capital, other capital surplus, and retained earnings can be transferred among the accounts within equity 
under certain conditions upon resolution of the shareholders.

(2) Type and number of outstanding shares

Number of shares (Thousands)

As of March 31, 2023
Type of shares

Balance at 
beginning of year

Increase in shares 
during the year

Decrease in shares 
during the year

Balance at  
end of year

Issued stock:
  Common stock 484,293 – – 484,293 

    Total 484,293 – – 484,293 

Treasury stock:
  Common stock (*1, *2) 13,956 5 0 13,961 

    Total 13,956 5 0 13,961 

(*1) The increase of 5 thousand shares of treasury stock is that the Company purchased from holders of fractional shares.
(*2) Treasury stock includes 178 thousand shares held by the Trust for Delivery of Shares to Directors.

Number of shares (Thousands)

As of March 31, 2022
Type of shares

Balance at 
beginning of year

Increase in shares 
during the year

Decrease in shares 
during the year

Balance at  
end of year

Issued stock:
  Common stock 484,293 – – 484,293

    Total 484,293 – – 484,293

Treasury stock:
  Common stock (*1, *2) 13,950 6 0 13,956

    Total 13,950 6 0 13,956

(*1) The increase of 6 thousand shares of treasury stock is that the Company purchased from holders of fractional shares.
(*2) Treasury stock includes 178 thousand shares held by the Trust for Delivery of Shares to Directors.

17.    Contingencies

The Group was contingently liable as a guarantor of loans, principally to affiliates, totaling ¥548 million ($4,103 thousand) at March 31, 2023.

The Group was contingently liable as a guarantor for a stock transfer agreement between third parties, totaling ¥6,111 million ($45,765 thousand) 
at March 31, 2023.

The Group was contingently liable as a guarantor of loans, principally to affiliates, totaling ¥562 million ($4,591 thousand) at March 31, 2022.

The Group was contingently liable as a guarantor for a stock transfer agreement between third parties, totaling ¥6,111 million ($49,930 thousand) 
at March 31, 2022.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

22 23



ANA HOLDINGS INC.  Financial Results 2023

18.    Financial instruments and related disclosures

(1) Overview

(i) Group policy for financial instruments

The Group limits its fund management to short-term time deposits and raises funds through borrowings from financial institutions, including 
banks. The Group uses derivatives for the purpose of reducing the risks described below and does not enter into derivatives for speculative  
or trading purposes.

(ii) Types of financial instruments and related risk

Trade receivables (notes and accounts receivable) are exposed to credit risk in relation to customers.

Marketable securities and investment securities are exposed to the risk of market price fluctuations. Those securities are composed mainly of  
the shares of other companies with which the Group has business relationships.

Substantially all trade payables have payment due dates within one year.

Borrowings are taken out principally for the purpose of making capital investments, and certain long-term debt with variable interest rates is 
exposed to interest rate fluctuation risk. However, to reduce such risk for long-term interest-bearing debt at variable rates, the Group utilizes 
interest rate swap transactions as hedging instruments. Interest rate swaps that qualify for hedge accounting and meet specific matching criteria 
are not measured at fair value, but the differential paid or received under the swap agreements is recognized and included in interest expenses.

Bonds are mainly for the purpose of redemption of corporate bonds and capital investment, and convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights 
are used for capital investment funds and interest-bearing debt repayment.

For derivatives, in order to reduce the foreign currency exchange rate risk arising from receivables and payables denominated in foreign curren-
cies, the Group enters into forward foreign exchange contracts for specific receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies, mainly 
for aircraft purchase commitments. In addition, the Group enters into commodity derivative transactions such as swaps and options to mitigate 
fluctuation risk of the commodity prices of fuel and to stabilize operating profit.

(a) Management of credit risks (risks such as breach of contract by customers)

The Group manages its credit risk from receivables on the basis of internal guidelines, which include monitoring of payment term and balances 
of major customers by each business administration department to identify the default risk of customers at an early stage.

As for derivatives, the Group believes that the credit risks are extremely low as it enters into derivative transactions only with reputable financial 
institutions with sound credit profiles.

(b) Management of market risks (fluctuation risks of foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates)

In order to reduce foreign currency exchange rate risks, the Group principally utilizes forward foreign exchange contracts for receivables and 
payables denominated in foreign currencies. In order to mitigate the interest rate fluctuation risks related to debt, the Group utilizes interest rate 
swap transactions. In addition, the Group enters into commodity derivative transactions such as swaps and options to mitigate fluctuation risk 
related to commodity prices for fuel.

As for marketable securities and investment securities, the Group periodically reviews the fair values and the financial conditions of the issuers 
to identify and mitigate risks of impairment.

There are internal management regulations for derivative transactions which set forth transaction authority and limits on transaction amounts.

The Group enters into derivative transactions in accordance with such policies. Moreover, the Group reports plans and results of methods and 
ratios for offsetting risks at the quarterly meetings of the Board of Directors.

(c) Management of liquidity risks related to financing (risks that the Group cannot meet the due dates of payables)

The Group manages liquidity risks by establishing a financial plan in order to procure and invest funds that are necessary for the operation of the 
Group over a certain period of time in accordance with the Group’s business operating plan and budget.

(iii) Supplementary explanation of the estimated fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market price, if available. When there is no quoted market price available, fair value 
is reasonably estimated. Since various assumptions and factors are reflected in estimating the fair value, different assumptions and factors could 
result in different fair value estimates. In addition, the notional amounts of derivatives presented in Note 19 “Derivatives and hedging activities” are 
not necessarily indicative of the actual market risk involved in derivative transactions.

(2) Estimated fair value of financial instruments

The carrying values of financial instruments on the consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2023 and 2022, and their estimated fair values, are 
shown in the following tables. The following tables do not include financial instruments for which fair value cannot be reliably determined (Please 
refer to Note 2 below).

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2023 Carrying value (*1) Fair value (*2) Differences

Assets:
  Investment securities ¥   101,532 ¥   101,532 ¥           –

Total assets ¥   101,532 ¥   101,532 ¥           –

Liabilities:
  Bonds ¥   185,000 ¥   173,805 ¥(11,195)
  Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights  (including the current portion of bonds) 220,000 232,295 12,295 
  Long-term debt (including the current portion of long-term debt) 1,102,218 1,075,758 (26,460)

Total liabilities ¥1,507,218 ¥1,481,858 ¥(25,360)
Derivatives ¥     61,462 ¥     61,462 ¥           –

(*1) The value of assets and liabilities arising from derivatives is shown as a net value, and the amount in parentheses represents a net liability position.
(*2) �“Cash and deposits,” “Notes and accounts receivable,” “Securities (Certificate of deposit),” “Notes and Accounts payable” and “Short-term loans” are cash with short 

maturities and the carrying values approximate fair value. Thus, those records are omitted.
(*3) �Nonmarketable equity securities 

These are excluded from “Investment securities” in the above table. The carrying value of these financial instruments in the consolidated balance sheet is as follows: 
Non-listed shares, etc.,: ¥29,513 million ($221,021 million)

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2022 Carrying value (*1) Fair value (*2) Differences

Assets:
  Investment securities ¥     94,015 ¥     93,978 ¥       (37)

Total assets ¥     94,015 ¥     93,978 ¥       (37)

Liabilities:
  Bonds ¥   185,000 ¥   176,764 ¥  (8,236)
  Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights  (including the current portion of bonds) 290,000 291,770 1,770 
  Long-term debt (including the current portion of long-term debt) 1,164,993 1,157,007 (7,986)

Total liabilities ¥1,639,993 ¥1,625,541 ¥(14,452)
Derivatives ¥   103,405 ¥   103,405 ¥          –

(*1) The value of assets and liabilities arising from derivatives is shown as a net value, and the amount in parentheses represents a net liability position.
(*2) �“Cash and deposits,” “Notes and accounts receivable,” “Securities (Certificate of deposit),” “Notes and accounts receivable,” “Accounts payable,” and “Short-term loans.” As 

these are Cash and settled within a short period of time, the carrying values approximate fair value and thus, those records are omitted.
(*3) �Nonmarketable equity securities 

These are excluded from “Investment securities” in the above table. The carrying value of these financial instruments in the consolidated balance sheet is as follows: 
Non-listed shares, etc.,: ¥27,831 million

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

As of March 31, 2023 Carrying value (*1) Fair value (*2) Differences

Assets:
  Investment securities $     760,368 $     760,368 $             –

Total assets $     760,368 $     760,368 $             –

Liabilities:
  Bonds $  1,385,456 $  1,301,617 $  (83,838)
  Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights  (including the current portion of bonds) 1,647,569 1,739,646 92,076 
  Long-term debt (including the current portion of long-term debt) 8,254,459 8,056,301 (198,157)

Total liabilities $11,287,485 $11,097,566 $(189,919)
Derivatives $     460,286 $     460,286 $             –

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

As of March 31 2023 2022 2023
Unlisted stocks ¥21,288 ¥19,953 $159,424

Because no quoted market price is available and the fair value cannot be reliably determined, the above financial instruments are not included in 
the fair value tables above.

(3) The three-level hierarchy for fair value measurements

The market value of financial instruments is classified into the following three levels according to the observability and importance of the inputs 
used to calculate the fair value.

LEVEL 1: Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

LEVEL 2: Market value calculated using directly or indirectly observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs.

LEVEL 3: Inputs to the valuation methodology which are significant to the fair value measurement are unobservable.

An investment’s categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.
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(i) Financial assets and financial liabilities that are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2023 Fair Value
Classification LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 Total

Investment securities
  Other securities
    Equity securities ¥99,894 ¥         – ¥– ¥  99,894 

Derivative

  Currency – 57,872 – 57,872 

    Commodity – 3,590 – 3,590 

Total assets ¥99,894 ¥61,462 ¥– ¥161,356 

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2022 Fair Value
Classification LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 Total
Investment securities
  Other securities

    Equity securities ¥92,160 ¥           – ¥– ¥92,160 

Derivative

  Currency – 53,005 – 53,005 

    Commodity – 50,400 – 50,400 

Total assets ¥92,160 ¥103,405 ¥– ¥195,565 

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

As of March 31, 2023 Fair Value
Classification LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 Total

Investment securities
  Other securities
    Equity securities $748,101 $           – $– $   748,101 

Derivative

  Currency – 433,400 – 433,400 

    Commodity – 26,885 – 26,885 

Total assets $748,101 $460,286 $– $1,208,387 

(ii) Financial assets and financial liabilities that are not recorded on the balance sheet at fair value

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2023 Fair Value
Classification LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 Total

Investment securities
  Other securities
    Equity securities ¥13,815 ¥                – ¥             – ¥     13,815 

Held-to-maturity securities

  Bonds – – 6,301 6,301 

Total assets ¥13,815 ¥                – ¥    6,301 ¥     20,116 

  Bonds ¥           – ¥   173,805 ¥             – ¥   173,805 

 � Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights (including Convertible bonds 
scheduled to be redeemed within one year Corporate bonds with stock 
acquisition rights)

– 232,295 – 232,295 

  Long-term debt (including Current portion of long-term debt) – 675,758 400,000 1,075,758 

Total liabilities ¥           – ¥1,081,858 ¥400,000 ¥1,481,858 

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2022 Fair Value
Classification LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 Total

Investment securities
  Other securities
    Equity securities ¥14,486 ¥               – ¥           – ¥     14,486 

Held-to-maturity securities

  Bonds – – 5,986 5,986 

Total assets ¥14,486 ¥               – ¥    5,986 ¥     20,472 

  Bonds ¥          – ¥   176,764 ¥           – ¥   176,764 

 � Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights (including Convertible bonds 
scheduled to be redeemed within one year Corporate bonds with stock 
acquisition rights)

– 291,770 – 291,770 

  Long-term debt (including Current portion of long-term debt) – 757,007 400,000 1,157,007 

Total liabilities ¥          – ¥1,225,541 ¥400,000 ¥1,625,541 

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

As of March 31, 2023 Fair Value
Classification LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 Total

Investment securities
  Other securities
    Equity securities $103,457 $              – $              – $     103,457 

Held-to-maturity securities

  Bonds – – 47,187 47,187 

Total assets $103,457 $              – $     47,187 $     150,645 

  Bonds $           – $1,301,617 $              – $  1,301,617 

 � Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights (including Convertible bonds 
scheduled to be redeemed within one year Corporate bonds with stock 
acquisition rights)

– 1,739,646 – 1,739,646 

  Long-term debt (including Current portion of long-term debt) – 5,060,720 2,995,581 8,056,301 

Total liabilities $           – $8,101,984 $2,995,581 $11,097,566 

Notes: �Description of the valuation techniques and inputs used to determine fair values 
Investment securities 
As shares are traded on active markets, the fair values are classified as Level 1. Fair values of bonds are calculated by the discounted cash flow method based on the 
estimated future cash flows and interest rates of appropriate indices, such as yields on government bonds, plus credit spread, etc. Since the impact of unobservable 
inputs on the fair values is significant, the fair values are classified as Level 3. 
 
Derivative 
The Company conducts derivative transactions such as fuel options and currency options. The fair values of derivatives are calculated using the discounted present value 
method using observable inputs such as interest rates, and are classified as Level 2 fair values. 
 
Bonds 
Fair values of bonds issued by the Company are calculated based on the present value obtained by discounting the sum of their principal amounts and interest by the 
interest rate determined in light of the remaining period and the credit risk of the bonds, and classified as Level 2. 
 
Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights 
 
Fair values of convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights issued by the Company are calculated based on the prices offered by financial institutions, and classified as 
Level 2. 
 
Long-term debt 
Fair values of long-term debt are based on the present value of the total of principal and interest discounted by the interest rate to be applied if similar new borrowings 
were entered into. Long-term debt with floating interest rates is subject to special treatment for interest rate swaps (see “Derivative” above), and the fair values are based 
on the present value of the total of principal and interest, which have been treated as a unit with such interest rate swaps, discounted by the reasonably estimated interest 
rate to be applied if similar new borrowings were entered into. Accordingly, the fair values are classified as Level 2. However, the fair values of some of the long-term debt 
are classified as Level 3 because the impact of unobservable inputs, such as contract terms and credit spread, on the fair values is significant.
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(iii) �The redemption schedule for receivables and available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities with maturities at March 31, 
2023 and 2022 is summarized as follows:

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2023
Due in  

one year or less
Due after one year 
through five years

Due after five years 
through ten years

Due after  
ten years

Deposits ¥   602,369 ¥       – ¥       – ¥       –
Notes and accounts receivable 186,052 – – –
Held-to-maturity bonds – – – 1,855 

Other securities with maturities 580,037 6,868 1,275 –

Total ¥1,368,458 ¥6,868 ¥1,275 ¥1,855 

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2022
Due in  

one year or less
Due after one year 
through five years

Due after five years 
through ten years

Due after 
ten years

Deposits ¥   451,947 ¥       – ¥       – ¥       –
Notes and accounts receivable 149,437 – – –
Held-to-maturity bonds – – – 1,855 

Other securities with maturities 498,310 2,971 3,816 –

Total ¥1,099,694 ¥2,971 ¥3,816 ¥1,855 

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

As of March 31, 2023
Due in  

one year or less
Due after one year 
through five years

Due after five years 
through ten years

Due after 
ten years

Deposits $  4,511,113 $         – $       – $         –
Notes and accounts receivable 1,393,334 – – –
Held-to-maturity bonds – – – 13,892 

Other securities with maturities 4,343,870 51,434 9,548 –

Total $10,248,318 $51,434 $9,548 $13,892 

(iv) The redemption schedule for bonds, loans, and other interest-bearing liabilities at March 31, 2023 and 2022 is summarized as follows:

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2023
Due in  

one year or less
Due after one year 
through five years

Due after five years 
through ten years

Due after  
ten years

Short-term loans ¥  92,170 ¥           – ¥           – ¥           –
Bonds 30,000 70,000 20,000 65,000 
Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights – 70,000 150,000 –

Long-term debt 84,633 258,755 223,191 535,638 

Total ¥206,803 ¥398,755 ¥393,191 ¥600,638 

Yen (Millions)

As of March 31, 2022
Due in  

one year or less
Due after one year 
through five years

Due after five years 
through ten years

Due after  
ten years

Short-term loans ¥100,070 ¥           – ¥           – ¥           –

Bonds – 100,000 20,000 65,000 
Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights 70,000 70,000 150,000 –

Long-term debt 62,775 284,689 248,237 569,291 

Total ¥232,845 ¥454,689 ¥418,237 ¥634,291 

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

As of March 31, 2023
Due in  

one year or less
Due after one year 
through five years

Due after five years 
through ten years

Due after  
ten years

Short-term loans $   690,256 $              – $              – $              –
Bonds 224,668 524,226 149,779 486,781
Convertible bonds with stock acquisition rights – 524,226 1,123,343 –

Long-term debt 633,812 1,937,804 1,671,467 4,011,368

Total $1,548,738 $2,986,257 $2,944,589 $4,498,150

19.    Derivatives and hedging activities

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, and jet fuel prices. 
In order to manage these risks, the Group utilizes forward exchange contracts to hedge certain foreign currency transactions related to purchase 
commitments, principally of flight equipment, and foreign currency receivables and payables. Also, the Group utilizes interest rate swaps to 
minimize the impact of interest rate fluctuations related to outstanding debt. In addition, the Group also enters into a variety of swaps and options 
in its management of risk exposure related to jet fuel prices. The Group does not use derivatives for speculative or trading purposes.

The Group has developed internal hedging guidelines to control various aspects of derivative transactions, including authorization levels and 
transaction volumes. The Group enters into derivative transactions in accordance with these internal guidelines. Derivative and hedging transac-
tions initiated by respective operational departments have been examined by the accounting department and these transactions, including their 
measures and ratios, are generally monitored by management on a quarterly basis. Assessment of hedge effectiveness is examined at inception 
and, on an ongoing basis, periodically.

The Group is also exposed to credit-related losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties in regard to derivative financial  
instruments; however, it is not expected that any counterparties will fail to meet their obligations as the majority of the counterparties are  
internationally recognized financial institutions.

Summarized below are the notional amounts and estimated fair values of the derivative financial instruments outstanding at March 31, 2023 and 
2022 for which hedged accounting has been applied or not been applied.

(1) Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is applied

(i) Currency-related transactions

Yen (Millions)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2023 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

F�orward foreign exchange contracts for accounts 
receivable, accounted for by the deferral method:

  Sell: USD ¥           – ¥           – ¥         –
EUR 37 – 0
Other – – –

F�orward foreign exchange contracts for accounts 
payable, accounted for by the deferral method:

  Buy: USD 436,179 191,954 52,971
EUR 68 – 0 
Other 8,363 – (44)

C�urrency option contracts for accounts payable, 
accounted for by the deferral method:

  Sell: USD (Put) 53,594 36,320 (1,179)
  Buy: USD (Call) 58,640 38,125 6,281
F�orward foreign exchange contracts, accounted for as 
part of accounts receivable:

  Sell: USD 317 – (*)
EUR – – (*)
Other – – (*)

F�orward foreign exchange contracts, accounted for as 
part of accounts payable:

  Buy: USD 11,587 – (*)
EUR 518 – (*)
Other 1 – (*)

C�urrency swap contracts for accounts payable, 
accounted for as part of accounts payable:

  Receive/USD and pay/JPY

Total ¥569,308 ¥266,400 ¥58,028
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Yen (Millions)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2022 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

F�orward foreign exchange contracts for accounts 
receivable, accounted for by the deferral method:

  Sell: USD ¥       120 ¥            – ¥        (3)
EUR – – –
Other – – –

F�orward foreign exchange contracts for accounts  
payable, accounted for by the deferral method:

  Buy: USD 396,486 188,389 48,296 
EUR 5 – 0 
Other 0 – (0)

C�urrency option contracts for accounts payable, 
accounted for by the deferral method:

  Sell: USD (Put) 50,108 32,802 (553)
  Buy: USD (Call) 55,108 36,045 5,265
F�orward foreign exchange contracts,  
accounted for as part of accounts receivable:

  Sell: USD 916 – (*)
EUR – – (*)
Other – – (*)

F�orward foreign exchange contracts,  
accounted for as part of accounts payable:

  Buy: USD 8,315 – (*)
EUR 17 – (*)
Other 1 – (*)

C�urrency swap contracts for accounts payable, 
accounted for as part of accounts payable:

  Receive/USD and pay/JPY

Total ¥511,081 ¥257,238 ¥53,005

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2023 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

F�orward foreign exchange contracts for accounts 
receivable, accounted for by the deferral method:

  Sell: USD $              – $              – $            –
EUR 277 – 0
Other – – –

F�orward foreign exchange contracts for accounts 
payable, accounted for by the deferral method:

  Buy: USD 3,266,524 1,437,534 396,697
EUR 509 – –
Other 62,907 – (339)

C�urrency option contracts for accounts payable, 
accounted for by the deferral method:

  Sell: USD (Put) 401,362 271,998 (8,829)
  Buy: USD (Call) 439,152 285,516 47,038
F�orward foreign exchange contracts, accounted for as 
part of accounts receivable:

  Sell: USD 2,373 – (*)
EUR – – (*)
Other – – (*)

F�orward foreign exchange contracts, accounted for as 
part of accounts payable:

  Buy: USD 86,774 – (*)
EUR 3,879 – (*)
Other 7 – (*)

C�urrency swap contracts for accounts payable, 
accounted for as part of accounts payable:

  Receive/USD and pay/JPY

Total $4,263,521 $1,995,057 $434,569

Note: Calculation of fair value is based on the data obtained from financial institutions.
(*) �The estimated fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is included in the estimated fair value of accounts payable, as the amounts in such derivative contracts 

accounted for as part of accounts receivable and payable are aggregated with the receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies that are subject to hedge 
accounting. See Note 18 “Financial instruments and related disclosures” for additional information.

(ii) Interest-related transactions

Yen (Millions)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2023 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

Interest rate swap hedging long-term loans:
  Receive/floating and pay/fixed ¥21,509 ¥7,410 (*)

Yen (Millions)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2022 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

Interest rate swap hedging long-term loans:
  Receive/floating and pay/fixed ¥35,608 ¥21,509 (*)

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2023 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

Interest rate swap hedging long-term loans:
  Receive/floating and pay/fixed $161,079 $55,493 (*)

(*) � Interest rate swap contracts are used as hedges and meet specific matching criteria, the net amount to be paid or received under the interest rate swap contract is added to or 
deducted from the interest on the long-term loans. The estimated fair value of interest rate swap contracts is included in the estimated fair value of long-term loans.

(iii) Commodity-related transactions

Yen (Millions)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2023 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

C�ommodity (crude oil) swap contracts for accounts 
payable, accounted for by the deferral method:

  Receive/floating and pay/fixed ¥105,893 ¥41,802 ¥ 3,026 
C�ommodity (crude oil) option contracts, accounted for 

by the deferral method:
  Sell: Crude oil (Put) 48,126 24,659 (1,638)
  Buy: Crude oil (Call) 65,418 33,268 2,953 

Crude oil (Put) 10,074 – (752)

Total ¥229,513 ¥99,730 ¥ 3,590 

Yen (Millions)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2022 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

C�ommodity (crude oil) swap contracts for accounts 
payable, accounted for by the deferral method:

  Receive/floating and pay/fixed ¥  75,094 ¥32,826 ¥34,319 
C�ommodity (crude oil) option contracts, accounted for 

by the deferral method:
  Sell: Crude oil (Put) 33,678 18,002 4,917 
  Buy: Crude oil (Call) 45,264 24,094 11,163 

Total ¥154,037 ¥74,923 ¥50,400 

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2023 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

C�ommodity (crude oil) swap contracts for accounts 
payable, accounted for by the deferral method:

  Receive/floating and pay/fixed $   793,027 $313,053 $ 22,661 
C�ommodity (crude oil) option contracts, accounted for 

by the deferral method:
  Sell: Crude oil (Put) 360,413 184,670 (12,266)
  Buy: Crude oil (Call) 489,912 249,142 22,114 

Crude oil (Put) 75,443 – (5,631)

Total $1,718,812 $746,873 $ 26,885 

Note: The calculation of fair value is based on the data obtained from financial institutions.
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(2) Derivative transactions to which hedge accounting is not applied

(i) Currency-related transactions

Yen (Millions)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2023 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

Non-market forward foreign exchange contracts
  Sell: Other ¥       – ¥ – ¥     –
Non-market forward foreign exchange contracts
  Buy: USD 3,831 – (156)

Other – – –

Total ¥3,831 ¥ – ¥(156)

Yen (Millions)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2022 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

Non-market forward foreign exchange contracts
  Sell: Other ¥ – ¥ – ¥ –
Non-market forward foreign exchange contracts
  Buy: USD – – –

Other – – –

Total ¥ – ¥ – ¥ –

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

Notional amount
As of March 31, 2023 Total Maturing after one year Fair value

Non-market forward foreign exchange contracts
  Sell: Other $         – $ – $        –
Non-market forward foreign exchange contracts
  Buy: USD 28,690 – (1,168)

Other – – –

Total $28,690 $ – $(1,168)

(ii) Commodity-related transactions

Not applicable.

20.    Notes to revenue recognition

(1) Information of the revenue from contracts with customers on a disaggregated basis

Yen (Millions)

Reportable Segments (*1)

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2023 Air Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail

International routes

  Passenger Revenues ¥   433,470 ¥           – ¥         – ¥           –
  Cargo Revenues 308,088 – – –
  Mail Revenues 6,268 – – –
Subtotal 747,826 – – –
Domestic routes
  Passenger Revenues 529,593 – – –
  Cargo Revenues 24,119 – – –
  Mail Revenues 2,898 – – –
Subtotal 556,610 – – –
LCC Revenues 90,265 – – –
Airline Related Revenues – 247,129 – –
Revenues from domestic package products – – 45,954 –
Revenues from international package products – – 1,512 –
Revenues from Trade and Retail – – – 103,252 
Other 144,742 – 26,349 –
Total ¥1,539,443 ¥247,129 ¥73,815 ¥103,252 
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from other (*3)

Yen (Millions)

Reportable 
Segments (*1)

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2023 Other (*2) Subtotal Adjustments Total

International routes

  Passenger Revenues ¥         – ¥   433,470 ¥            – ¥              –
  Cargo Revenues – 308,088 – –
  Mail Revenues – 6,268 – –
Subtotal – 747,826 – –
Domestic routes
  Passenger Revenues – 529,593 – –
  Cargo Revenues – 24,119 – –
  Mail Revenues – 2,898 – –
Subtotal – 556,610 – –
LCC Revenues – 90,265 – –
Airline Related Revenues – 247,129 – –
Revenues from domestic package products – 45,954 – –
Revenues from international package products – 1,512 – –
Revenues from Trade and Retail – 103,252 – –
Other 38,066 209,157 – –
Total ¥38,066 ¥2,001,705 ¥(294,221) ¥1,707,484 
Revenue from contracts with customers ¥1,694,405

Revenue from other (*3) ¥     13,079

Yen (Millions)

Reportable Segments (*1)

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2022 Air Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail

International routes

  Passenger Revenues ¥  70,151 ¥           – ¥         – ¥         –
  Cargo Revenues 328,750 – – –
  Mail Revenues 5,448 – – –
Subtotal 404,349 – – –
Domestic routes  
  Passenger Revenues 279,877 – – –
  Cargo Revenues 24,932 – – –
  Mail Revenues 2,666 – – –
Subtotal 307,475 – – –
LCC Revenues 37,813 – – –
Airline Related Revenues – 206,806 – –
Revenues from domestic package products – – 26,243 –
Revenues from international package products – – 171 –
Revenues from Trade and Retail – – – 81,694 
Other 135,459 – 19,868 –
Total ¥885,096 ¥206,806 ¥46,282 ¥81,694 
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from other (*3)

Yen (Millions)

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2022 Other (*2) Subtotal Adjustments Total

International routes

  Passenger Revenues ¥         – ¥     70,151 ¥            – ¥              –
  Cargo Revenues – 328,750 – –
  Mail Revenues – 5,448 – –
Subtotal – 404,349 – –
Domestic routes
  Passenger Revenues – 279,877 – –
  Cargo Revenues – 24,932 – –
  Mail Revenues – 2,666 – –
Subtotal – 307,475 – –
LCC Revenues – 37,813 – –
Airline Related Revenues – 206,806 – –
Revenues from domestic package products – 26,243 – –
Revenues from international package products – 171 – –
Revenues from Trade and Retail – 81,694 – –
Other 38,130 193,457 – –
Total ¥38,130 ¥1,258,008 ¥(237,684) ¥1,020,324 
Revenue from contracts with customers ¥1,004,220 

Revenue from other (*3) ¥     16,104 
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U.S. dollars (Thousands)

Reportable Segments (*1)

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2023 Air Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail

International routes

  Passenger Revenues $  3,246,236 $              – $           – $           –
  Cargo Revenues 2,307,256 – – –
  Mail Revenues 46,940 – – –
Subtotal 5,600,434 – – –
Domestic routes
  Passenger Revenues 3,966,097 – – –
  Cargo Revenues 180,626 – – –
  Mail Revenues 21,702 – – –
Subtotal 4,168,426 – – –
LCC Revenues 675,990 – – –
Airline Related Revenues – 1,850,737 – –
Revenues from domestic package products – – 344,147 –
Revenues from international package products – – 11,323 –
Revenues from Trade and Retail – – – 773,249 
Other 1,083,966 – 197,326 –
Total $11,528,817 $1,850,737 $552,797 $773,249 
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from other (*3)

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2023 Other (*2) Subtotal Adjustments Total

International routes

  Passenger Revenues $           – $  3,246,236 $                – $                –
  Cargo Revenues – 2,307,256 – –
  Mail Revenues – 46,940 – –
Subtotal – 5,600,434 – –
Domestic routes
  Passenger Revenues – 3,966,097 – –
  Cargo Revenues – 180,626 – –
  Mail Revenues – 21,702 – –
Subtotal – 4,168,426 – –
LCC Revenues – 675,990 – –
Airline Related Revenues – 1,850,737 – –
Revenues from domestic package products – 344,147 – –
Revenues from international package products – 11,323 – –
Revenues from Trade and Retail – 773,249 – –
Other 285,074 1,566,367 – –
Total $285,074 $14,990,676 $(2,203,407) $12,787,268 
Revenue from contracts with customers $12,689,320 

Revenue from other (*3) $       97,948 

(*1) The amount in the reportable segments is the amount before the intersegment consolidation elimination.
(*2) “Other” represents all business segments that are not included in the reportable segments, such as facility management, business support, and other operations.
(*3) Other Revenue includes rent income based on the “Accounting Standard for Lease Transactions” (ASBJ statement No. 13, March 30, 2007).

(2) Information that is the basis for understanding revenue

Information that is the basis for understanding revenue is stated in the notes to the consolidated financial statements “3. Summary of significant 
accounting policies (12) Revenue recognition.”

(3) Matters for understanding the amount of revenue for the current consolidated period and the following period

(i) Balance of contract liabilities, etc.

Contract liabilities relate primarily to consideration received in advance from customers for air transportation and travel contracts for which 
revenue is recognized as the services are provided, and to unexercised miles awarded for the use of the Company’s flights, business partners’ 
services, etc.

Revenue recognized for the current consolidated fiscal year that was included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the year was 
¥199,652 million ($1,495,184 thousand).

(ii) Transaction price allocated to residual performance obligations

The total transaction price allocated to unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) performance obligations at the end of the current consolidated fiscal 
year was ¥393,545 million. ($2,947,240 thousand).

Expected periods of revenue recognition within the next three years from the transaction price, etc., allocated to the remaining performance 
obligations for consideration received in advance from customers and miles that are expected to be exercised by customers in the future are as 
follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

The Current consolidated fiscal year

As of March 31, 2023 2023 2022 2023
Within a year ¥341,330 ¥143,293 $2,556,204
Over 1 year and within 2 years 41,564 41,788 311,270

Over 2 years and within 3 years 9,498 27,022 71,130

Total ¥392,392 ¥212,103 $2,938,605

21.    Segment information

(1) Description of reportable segments

The reportable segments of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are components for which discrete financial information is available 
and whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Executive Committee to make decisions about resource allocation and to assess 
performance.

The Group’s reportable segments are categorized under “Air Transportation,” “Airline Related,” “Travel Services,” and “Trade and Retail.”

The “Air Transportation” segment conducts domestic and international passenger operations, cargo and mail operations, and other transporta-
tion services. The “Airline Related” segment conducts air transportation-related operations, such as airport passenger and ground handling 
services and maintenance services. The “Travel Services” segment conducts operations centering on the development and sales of travel plans. 
It also conducts planning and sales of branded travel packages using air transportation. The “Trade and Retail” segment conducts mainly import 
and export operations of goods related to air transportation and is involved in in-store and non-store retailing.

(2) �Methods of measurement for the amounts of operating revenues, profit or loss, assets, and other items for each report-
able segment

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are substantially the same as those described in Note 3 “Summary of significant accounting 
policies.”

Segment performance is evaluated based on operating income or loss. Intersegment sales and transfers are based on actual market price.

(3) Information about operating revenues, profit or loss, assets, and other items

Yen (Millions)

Reportable Segments

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2023
Air 

Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail Subtotal

Operating revenues:
Operating revenues from external customers ¥1,498,327 ¥  45,723 ¥57,743 ¥  90,602 ¥1,692,395 
Intersegment revenues or transfers 41,116 201,406 16,072 12,650 271,244 

Total ¥1,539,443 ¥247,129 ¥73,815 ¥103,252 ¥1,963,639 
Segment profit (loss) ¥   124,158 ¥    2,332 ¥    (277) ¥    3,511 ¥   129,724 
Segment assets 3,093,911 162,277 38,789 56,898 3,351,875 
Other items:

Depreciation and amortization 138,453 4,353 188 931 143,925 
Amortization of goodwill 2,001 – – 114 2,115 
Increase in property and equipment and intangible assets 115,146 2,124 1,469 1,152 119,891 
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Yen (Millions)

Reportable Segments
Total Adjustments (*2) Consolidated (*3)As of and for the year ended March 31, 2023 Other (*1)

Operating revenues:
Operating revenues from external customers ¥15,089 ¥1,707,484 ¥            – ¥1,707,484 
Intersegment revenues or transfers 22,977 294,221 (294,221) –

Total ¥38,066 ¥2,001,705 ¥(294,221) ¥1,707,484 
Segment profit (loss) ¥     599 ¥   130,323 ¥  (10,293) ¥   120,030 
Segment assets 26,569 3,378,444 (11,720) 3,366,724 
Other items:

Depreciation and amortization 388 144,313 – 144,313 
Amortization of goodwill – 2,115 – 2,115 
Increase in property and equipment and intangible assets 121 120,012 (3,120) 116,892 

(*1) “Other” refers to all business segments that are not included in the reportable segments, such as facility management, business support, and other operations.
(*2) �Adjustments to segment profit or loss consist of corporate expenses. The amount of company-wide assets included in the adjustment amount of segment assets is 

¥(167,141) million, the main of which is long-term investment funds (investment securities) of consolidated subsidiaries.
(*3) Segment profit or loss is reconciled to operating income on the consolidated statement of income.

Yen (Millions)

Reportable Segments

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2022
Air 

Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail Subtotal

Operating revenues:
Operating revenues from external customers ¥   857,460 ¥  43,613 ¥32,130 ¥72,380 ¥1,005,583 
Intersegment revenues or transfers 27,636 163,193 14,152 9,314 214,295 

Total ¥   885,096 ¥206,806 ¥46,282 ¥81,694 ¥1,219,878 
Segment profit (loss) ¥  (162,932) ¥      (660) ¥ (2,105) ¥     549 ¥  (165,148)
Segment assets 2,963,742 141,202 32,543 51,323 3,188,810 
Other items:

Depreciation and amortization 140,553 5,050 134 1,093 146,830 
Amortization of goodwill 2,001 – – 115 2,116 
Increase in property and equipment and intangible assets 130,531 150 407 452 131,540 

Yen (Millions)

Reportable Segments
Total Adjustments (*2) Consolidated (*3)As of and for the year ended March 31, 2022 Other (*1)

Operating revenues:
Operating revenues from external customers ¥14,741 ¥1,020,324 ¥            – ¥1,020,324 
Intersegment revenues or transfers 23,389 237,684 (237,684) –

Total ¥38,130 ¥1,258,008 ¥(237,684) ¥1,020,324 
Segment profit (loss) ¥  1,388 ¥  (163,760) ¥    (9,367) ¥  (173,127)
Segment assets 25,590 3,214,400 4,033 3,218,433 
Other items:

Depreciation and amortization 498 147,328 – 147,328 
Amortization of goodwill – 2,116 – 2,116 
Increase in property and equipment and intangible assets 395 131,935 1,429 133,364 

(*1).“Other” refers to all business segments that are not included in the reportable segments, such as facility management, business support, and other operations.
(*2) �Adjustments to segment profit or loss consist of corporate expenses. The amount of company-wide assets included in the adjustment amount of segment assets is 

¥(158,814) million, the main of which is long-term investment funds (investment securities) of consolidated subsidiaries.
(*3) Segment profit or loss is reconciled to operating loss on the consolidated statement of income.
(*4) �Matters concerning changes in reporting segments, etc. 

New revenue recognition accounting standards have been applied from the beginning of the previous consolidated fiscal year. Due to a change in the accounting standard, 
the method for measuring profit or loss in a business segment has been changed as well. The change mainly affected operating revenues and segment losses in the Air 
Transportation segment.

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

Reportable Segments

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2023
Air 

Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail Subtotal

Operating revenues:
Operating revenues from external customers $11,220,901 $   342,417 $432,434 $678,514 $12,674,267 
Intersegment revenues or transfers 307,915 1,508,320 120,362 94,735 2,031,333 

Total $11,528,817 $1,850,737 $552,797 $773,249 $14,705,601 
Segment profit (loss) $     929,813 $     17,464 $   (2,074) $26,293 $971,497 
Segment assets 23,170,156 1,215,284 290,489 426,106 25,102,036 
Other items:

Depreciation and amortization 1,036,868 32,599 1,407 6,972 1,077,847 
Amortization of goodwill 14,985 – – 853 15,839 
Increase in property and equipment and intangible assets 862,323 15,906 11,001 8,627 897,858 

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

Reportable Segments
Total Adjustments (*2) Consolidated (*3)As of and for the year ended March 31, 2023 Other (*1)

Operating revenues:
Operating revenues from external customers $113,000 $12,787,268 $               – $12,787,268 
Intersegment revenues or transfers 172,073 2,203,407 (2,203,407) –

Total $285,074 $14,990,676 $(2,203,407) $12,787,268 
Segment profit (loss) $    4,485 $     975,982 $     (77,083) $     898,899 
Segment assets 198,974 25,301,011 (87,770) 25,213,240 
Other items:

Depreciation and amortization 2,905 1,080,753 – 1,080,753 
Amortization of goodwill – 15,839 – 15,839 
Increase in property and equipment and intangible assets 906 898,764 (23,365) 875,398 

(*1) “Other” refers to all business segments that are not included in the reportable segments, such as facility management, business support, and other operations.
(*2) �Adjustments to segment profit or loss consist of corporate expenses. The amount of company-wide assets included in the adjustment amount of segment assets is 

$(1,251,711) thousand, the main of which is long-term investment funds (investment securities) of consolidated subsidiaries.
(*3) Segment profit or loss is reconciled to operating income on the consolidated statement of income.

(4) Information about geographical areas

Net sales to third parties by countries or areas grouped according to geographical classification for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 
are summarized as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Japan ¥1,217,092 ¥   737,522 $  9,114,745
Overseas 490,392 282,802 3,672,523

Total ¥1,707,484 ¥1,020,324 $12,787,268

Notes:
1. “Overseas” consists substantially of the Americas, Europe, China, and Asia.
2. Net sales of “Overseas” represents sales made in countries or areas other than Japan.

(5) Information about impairment loss on long-lived assets

Yen (Millions)

Reportable Segments

For the year ended March 31, 2023
Air 

Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail Other Adjustments Total

Impairment loss ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥–

Yen (Millions)

Reportable Segments

For the year ended March 31, 2022
Air 

Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail Other Adjustments Total

Impairment loss ¥9,357 ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥– ¥9,357 

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

Reportable Segments

For the year ended March 31, 2023
Air 

Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail Other Adjustments Total

Impairment loss $– $– $– $– $– $– $–

(6) Information about amortization and the remaining balance of goodwill

Yen (Millions)

Reportable Segments

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2023
Air 

Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail Other Adjustments Total

Amortization of goodwill ¥  2,001 ¥– ¥– ¥114 ¥– ¥– ¥  2,115 

Balance at the end of the fiscal year ¥18,000 ¥– ¥– ¥115 ¥– ¥– ¥18,115 

Yen (Millions)

Reportable Segments

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2022
Air 

Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail Other Adjustments Total

Amortization of goodwill ¥  2,001 ¥– ¥– ¥115 ¥– ¥– ¥  2,116 

Balance at the end of the fiscal year ¥20,001 ¥– ¥– ¥229 ¥– ¥– ¥20,230 

U.S. dollars (Thousands)

Reportable Segments

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2023
Air 

Transportation Airline Related Travel Services Trade and Retail Other Adjustments Total

Amortization of goodwill $  14,985 $– $– $853 $– $– $  15,839 

Balance at the end of the fiscal year $134,801 $– $– $861 $– $– $135,662 
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22.    Selling, general and administrative expenses

The main components of selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Commissions ¥41,519 ¥18,827 $310,933
Advertising 4,576 3,079 34,269
Employees’ salaries and bonuses 33,578 30,357 251,464
Provision of allowance for doubtful accounts 37 44 277
Provision for accrued bonuses to employees 6,375 2,031 47,742
Retirement benefit expenses 2,951 3,053 22,099
Depreciation 22,113 25,379 165,603
Outsourcing expenses 22,896 24,122 171,467

23.    Amounts per share

Amounts per share at and for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Yen U.S. dollars

2023 2022 2023
Net assets per share ¥1,833.64 ¥1,695.06 $13.73 
Net income (loss) per share 190.24 (305.37) 1.42 
After adjusting for diluted shares net income per share 170.16 – 1.27 

		  Note: 1.The basis for calculating net income per share is as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

Year ended March 31 2023 2022 2023
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders ¥  89,477 ¥(143,628) $670,089 
Amount not attributable to common shareholders – –
Net income (loss) attributable to common stock ¥  89,477 ¥(143,628) $670,089 

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the fiscal year (in thousands) 470,334 470,339 

Increase in number of common stocks (in thousands) 55,496 

Convertible bonds type bonds with subscription rights to shares (in thousands) 55,496 

		  Note: 2.The basis for calculating net assets per share is as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

As of March 31 2023 2022 2023
Net assets ¥870,391 ¥803,415 $6,518,317
Amounts deducted from total net assets:
  Non-controlling interests (7,972) (6,166) (59,701)
Net assets attributable to common stock at the end of the fiscal year ¥862,419 ¥797,249 $6,458,616

N�umber of shares of common stock at the end of the fiscal year used to determine net 
assets per share (in thousands) 470,331 470,336 

		  Note: 3. �The average number of shares of the Company held by the Trust for Delivery of Shares to Directors for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 were 178 
thousand and 178 thousand, respectively. The shares held by the trust were deducted from the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during each of 
the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022. 
The number of shares of the Company held by the Trust for Delivery of Shares to Directors at March 31, 2023 and 2022 were 178 thousand and 178 thousand, 
respectively. The shares held by the trust were deducted from the number of shares of common stock at the end of each of the years ended March 31, 2023 and 
2022, which were used to determine net assets per share.

24.    Supplementary cash flow information

A reconciliation of the difference between cash and deposits stated in the consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2023 and 2022 and cash and 
cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Cash and deposits ¥ 603,686 ¥ 452,679 $ 4,520,976
Time deposits with maturities of more than three months (387,030) (261,292) (2,898,449)
Marketable securities 580,037 498,310 4,343,870
Marketable securities with maturities of more than three months (70,242) (68,660) (526,039)

Cash and cash equivalents ¥ 726,451 ¥ 621,037 $ 5,440,357

25.    Impairment loss

The Group reviewed its long-lived assets for impairment for the years ended March 31, 2023 and 2022. As a result, the Group recognized 
impairment losses of ¥9,357 million, included in other expenses, for the years ended March 31, 2022, whereas there were no applicable items for 
the years ended March 31, 2023. The details are as follows:

For the year ended March 31, 2023 Yen (Millions)

Application Location Category Impairment loss

None

For the year ended March 31, 2022 Yen (Millions)

Application Location Category Impairment loss

Assets expected to be sold Tokyo Aircraft-related assets ¥8,196 
Other assets Chiba Buildings, furniture and fixtures 1,161 

Total ¥9,357 

The Group grouped its operating assets for impairment testing based on management accounting categories, and also grouped lease assets, 
assets to be disposed of by sale and idle assets on an individual basis. Regarding aircraft-related assets of ANA HOLDINGS INC. and ALL 
NIPPON AIRWAYS CO., LTD., the Group retired some of the aircrafts based on the updated business plan. As a result, an impairment loss of 
¥8,196 million was recognized. Regarding business assets, the air passenger facility in Chiba went into an idle state and were written-down to 
recoverable amount. Details are as follows: ¥1,150 million for buildings-related assets, ¥10 million for furniture and fixtures, ¥0 million for struc-
tures. The recoverable amount of aircraft-related assets was measured at its net selling price. The net selling price is determined by estimates of 
selling cost and selling price. Regarding business assets, the Group recognized that recovery of the amount invested will not be possible and 
memorandum value as recoverable amount.

For the year ended March 31, 2023
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

Application Location Category Impairment loss

None
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26.    Supplementary information for the consolidated statement of income

(1) Write-downs of inventories

Inventories were valued using prices after write-downs of book value due to a decrease in net selling value.

Write-downs of inventories included in cost of sales are as follows:

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
¥146 ¥815 $1,093

(2) Other income (expenses), net

Yen (Millions)
U.S. dollars 
(Thousands)

2023 2022 2023
Employment adjustment subsidy ¥  5,043 ¥23,955 $37,766
Gain on sales of investment securities – 8,278 –
Valuation loss on investments in securities (1,042) (5,337) (7,803)
Other 7,174 24,257 53,725

Other, net ¥11,175 ¥51,153 $83,689

27.    Subsequent events

(1) Disposal of Treasury Stock

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on April 27, 2023, the Company resolved to introduce a transfer-restricted stock incentive plan for 
the employee stock ownership associations (the “Plan”) and to dispose of its shares of treasury stock in the form of transfer-restricted shares (the 
“Disposal of Treasury Stock” or the “Disposal”) to All Nippon Airways Employee Stock Ownership Association, All Nippon Airways Group 
Employee Stock Ownership Association, and All Nippon Airways Trading Group Employee Stock Ownership Association (individually, the “Stock 
Ownership Association” and collectively, the “Stock Ownership Associations”) as intended allottees.

(i) Outline of disposal

(a) Class of stock subject to the disposable	 Shares of common stock

(b) Total number of shares to the disposal	 4,452,500 shares (Note)

(c) Disposal price	 2,930 yen per share

(d) Total disposal price amount to be disposed	 13,045,825,000 yen (97,699,580,618 U.S dollars) (Note)

(e) Due date for the disposal	 November 1, 2023

(f) Method of the disposal	� Subject to applications for subscription of shares being made by the Stock 
Ownership Associations, the Company will allot to the Stock Ownership 
Associations, by way of private offering, shares in such number as deter-
mined to be subscribed by the Stock Ownership Associations within the total 
number of shares subject to the Disposal specified in (b) above (the (Note) 
number of shares so allotted will be the actual total number of shares subject 
to the Disposal)

		�  No application for subscription from an Eligible Employee (as defined below) 
of part of the number of the granted shares will be accepted.

Note: �The “Total number of shares to the disposal” and the “Total disposal price” are calculated on the assumption that 100 shares of the Company’s common stock will be 
uniformly granted in the form of transfer-restricted shares to 44,525 employees of the Company’s subsidiaries who are a member of the Stock Ownership Associations, 
which is the maximum number of employees to whom the Plan may apply. Accordingly, the actual total number of shares subject to the Disposal and the total Disposal 
price will be fixed based on the number of employees of the Company’s subsidiaries who consent to the Plan (the “Eligible Employees”; maximum 44,525 employees) after 
the activities to promote enrollment of those who are not a member of any Stock Ownership Association and confirmation of consent to the Plan from the members of the 
Stock Ownership Associations. More specifically, as described in (f) above, the number of shares to be subscribed as determined by the Stock Ownership Associations will be 
the actual “Total number of shares to the disposal,” and the amount obtained by multiplying that number by the “Disposal price per share” will be the “Total disposal price.” 
The Company’s subsidiaries will uniformly pay a monetary claim of 293,000 yen to each Eligible Employee and the Company will uniformly allocate 100 shares to each Eligible 
Employee through the Stock Ownership Associations.

(ii) Purpose and reasons for the Disposal

The Company aims to create opportunities for the Eligible Employees of the Company’s subsidiaries who are a member of the Stock Ownership 
Associations to acquire shares of common stock of the Company issued or disposed of by the Company through the Stock Ownership 
Associations in the form of transfer-restricted shares as a measure to enhance employee benefits for the Eligible Employees, and thereby 
assisting them in their asset building. The Company also intends to increase incentives to achieve the “ANA HOLDINGS Announces Med-Term 
Corporate Strategies for FY2023–2025,” and thus, enabling the Eligible Employees to share values with the shareholders of the Company further 
and raising their awareness of participation in the management for the sustainable increase of the Group’s corporate value.

(2) Acquisition of treasury stock

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on April 27, 2023, the Company resolved to acquire its shares of treasury stock pursuant to Article 
156 of the Companies Act of Japan as applied according to Article 165, Paragraph 3 of the said Act, and the specific method of the acquisition. 
On April 28, 2023, the Company acquired its shares of treasury stock as follows.

(i) Details of the acquisition

(a) Class of stock subject to the acquisition 	 Shares of common stock

(b) Total number of shares subject to the acquisition 	2,930,000 shares

(c) Acquisition price	 8,453,050,000 yen (63,304,500,861 U.S dollars)

(d) Date of the acquisition 	 April 28, 2023

(e) Method of the acquisition	� Purchase through the Tokyo Stock Exchange’s Off-Auction Own Share 
Repurchase Trading System (ToSTNeT -3)

(ii) Reason for the acquisition of treasury stock

The Company will appropriate the acquired shares of treasury stock to shares to be delivered under the “transfer-restricted stock incentive plan 
for the employee stock ownership associations,” which was resolved to be introduced at the meeting of the Board of Directors held on April 27, 
2023, as described in (1) Disposal of Treasury Stock above.

(3) Wholly Owned Subsidiary through Simplified Share Exchange

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on July 10, 2023, the Company resolved to implement a share exchange (the “Share Exchange”) in 
which the Company will become a wholly owning parent company resulting from the Share Exchange and Nippon Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd will 
become a wholly owned subsidiary resulting from the Share Exchange, effective on October 1, 2023, subject to the approvals of the relevant 
authorities. The Company has entered into an agreement for the Share Exchange (the “Share Exchange Agreement”) with Nippon Cargo Airlines 
Co., Ltd at the same date.

(i) Overview of the Share Exchange

(a) Name and Description of Business of Wholly Owned Subsidiary Resulting from the Share Exchange

Name of Wholly Owned Subsidiary Resulting from the Share Exchange	 Nippon Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. (“NCA”)

Description of Business						      Air cargo transportation business, etc.

(b) Purpose of the Share Exchange

The Group believes that making NCA a wholly owned subsidiary through a share exchange is the best way to increase the profitability of our 
group and accelerate our growth strategy. The future integration and restructuring of ANA Group’s cargo business, which utilizes Japan’s largest 
international passenger flight network, and NCA’s large cargo aircraft, will make it possible to provide high-quality and competitive air cargo 
transportation services that can respond to the increasing sophistication of the supply chain. As an airline, the Company will aim to contribute to 
society by providing value in the world of logistics.

(c) Effective Date of the Share Exchange

October 1, 2023 (scheduled)

(d) Method of the Share Exchange

This is a share exchange in which the Company will become the wholly owning parent company and NCA will become the wholly owned subsid-
iary. The Company plans to implement the Share Exchange, which will take effect as of October 1, 2023, through simplified share exchange 
procedures without obtaining approval by resolution at a general meeting of shareholders, pursuant to the main clause of Article 796, Paragraph 
2 of the Companies Act, and NCA plans to implement the same after obtaining the approval for the Share Exchange Agreement at the extraordi-
nary meeting of shareholders to be held by the middle of September 2023.
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(ii) Allotment of Shares in the Share Exchange and Method of Calculation of the share exchange ratio

(a) Allotment of Shares in the Share Exchange

Company (Wholly Owning Parent Company 
Resulting from the Share Exchange)

NCA (Wholly Owned Subsidiary Resulting 
from the Share Exchange)

Allotment Ratio in the Share Exchange 1 0.009815

Number of Shares to Be Delivered in the Share Exchange 3,926,000 shares of common stock of the Company (scheduled)

Notes:
1. �Allotment Ratio of Shares: 

0.009815 shares of common stock of the Company will be allotted to 1 share of Class II stock of NCA (provided, however, that if all Class II stock are changed into common 
stock by the day immediately preceding the effective date of Share Exchange, 1 share of common stock of NCA will be allotted).

2. �Number of Shares of the Company to Be Delivered in the Share Exchange: 
The Company will allot and deliver 3,926,000 shares of common stock of the Company in the Share Exchange With respect to the share to be delivered, the Company plans 
to appropriate 3,926,000 shares of treasury stock held by it, and does not plan to issue new shares.

3. �Number of Outstanding Shares of NCA: 
Outstanding shares of NCA consist of 400,000,000 shares of Class II stock and 790,973,000 shares of class stock that are all subject to call option (all class stock subject to 
call option are treasury stock). NCA plans to cancel all of its treasury stock by resolution of a meeting of the Board of Directors to be held by the day immediately preceding the 
effective date of the Share Exchange.

(b) Method of Calculation of the share exchange ratio

In order to ensure the fairness and appropriateness of the calculation of the share exchange ratio to be used in the Share Exchange, the 
Company requested KPMG FAS Co., Ltd. (“KPMG”), a third-party valuator independent of the Company and NCA, to calculate the share value of 
the Company and NCA and the exchange ratio. With reference to the results of the calculations of the share value and share exchange ratio (the 
“Share Exchange Ratio”) submitted by KPMG, and after comprehensively considering factors such as NCA’s financial conditions, asset condi-
tions, and future prospects, the Company determined that the valuation amount of NCA was appropriate. After the Company and NCA have 
repeatedly discussed and examined the share exchange ratio between them after comprehensively considering factors such as their respective 
financial condition, asset condition, and future prospects, with reference to the calculation results of the share value and the share exchange ratio 
submitted by their respective third-party valuator. As a result, the Share Exchange Ratio is appropriate for each shareholder and will not harm the 
interests of shareholders. Therefore, the Company decided to implement the Share Exchange at the Share Exchange Ratio.
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